
DEPARTMENT OF PROFESSIONAL AND OCCUPATIONAL REGULATION 
PERIMETER CENTER 
9960 MAYLAND DRIVE 

RICHMOND, VIRGINIA 23233 

COMMON INTEREST COMMUNITY BOARD 

Tentative AGENDA 

THURSDAY, SEPTEMBER 21, 10:00 A.M. 
2nd FLOOR, BOARD ROOM 2 

I. CALL TO ORDER

II. EMERGENCY EVACUATION PROCEDURES

III. APPROVAL OF AGENDA
a. Board Agenda, September 21, 2023

IV. APPROVAL OF MINUTES
a. Ombudsman Regulatory Review Committee Meeting, June 2, 2023
b. Board Meeting, June 8, 2023

V. INTRODUCTION OF NEW BOARD MEMBERS

VI. DPOR STAFF UPDATES

VII. PUBLIC COMMENT PERIOD*

VIII. REVIEW FILES AND DISCIPLINARY MATTERS
a. File Number 2021-02487, Atlantic Community Management Corporation

Disciplinary
b. File Number 2023-01113, Property Management Associates LLC, dba PMA

Disciplinary
c. File Number 2023-00417, Purple Sage Cluster Inc

Consent Order
d. File Number 2023-00259, Jeffrey O’Brien Bloxsom

Consent Order
e. File Number 2023-02755, CJB Management LLC

Licensing—IFF by Baker

IX. BOARD BUSINESS
a. Update on Regulatory Actions
b. Periodic Review of Board Regulations
c. Consider Authorizing NOIRA and Committee Membership for Time-Share Regulations General

Review
d. Consider Authorizing NOIRA for CIC Association Registration Regulations General Review
e. Consider Condominium Regulations Regulatory Review Committee Membership
f. Consider CIC Manager Regulations Regulatory Review Committee Membership
g. Consider Board Policy on Continuance of Case File Decisions

X. OTHER BUSINESS
a. Ombudsman Report
b. Litigation Update
c. Discussion of Management Information Fund Transfer
d. Board Financial Statements
e. Consider 2024 Meeting Dates
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f. Consider Resolutions for Service
g. Consider Training Program Review Committee Membership
h. Other Board Business

XI. COMPLETE CONFLICT OF INTEREST FORMS AND TRAVEL VOUCHERS

XII. ADJOURN

NEXT MEETING SCHEDULED FOR DECEMBER 14, 2023 at 10:00 A.M. 

* Five minute public comment, per person, with the exception of any open disciplinary or application files.

** Agenda materials made available to the public do not include disciplinary case files or application files pursuant to §54.1-108 of 
the Code of Virginia. 

Persons desiring to participate in the meeting and requiring special accommodations or interpretative services should contact the 
Department at (804) 367-8510 at least ten days prior to the meeting so that suitable arrangements can be made for an appropriate 
accommodation.  The Department fully complies with the Americans with Disabilities Act. 
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PERIMETER CENTER CONFERENCE CENTER 
EMERGENCY EVACUATION OF BOARD AND TRAINING ROOMS 

(Script to be read at the beginning of each meeting.) 

PLEASE LISTEN TO THE FOLLOWING INSTRUCTIONS ABOUT EXITING THE PREMISES IN THE EVENT OF AN EMERGENCY. 

In the event of a fire or other emergency requiring the evacuation of the building, alarms will sound.   
When the alarms sound, leave the room immediately.  Follow any instructions given by Security staff 

Board Room 1  
Exit the room using one of the doors at the back of the room.  Upon exiting the room, turn RIGHT.  Follow the 
corridor to the emergency exit at the end of the hall.   

Upon exiting the building, proceed straight ahead through the parking lot to the fence at the end of the lot.  Wait there 
for further instructions. 

Board Room 2 
Exit the room using one of the doors at the back of the room. (Point)  Upon exiting the room, turn RIGHT.  Follow the 
corridor to the emergency exit at the end of the hall.   

Upon exiting the building, proceed straight ahead through the parking lot to the fence at the end of the lot.  Wait there 
for further instructions. 

You may also exit the room using the side door, turn Right out the door and make an immediate Left.  Follow the 
corridor to the emergency exit at the end of the hall.   

Upon exiting the building, proceed straight ahead through the parking lot to the fence at the end of the lot.  Wait there 
for further instructions. 

Board Rooms 3 and 4 
Exit the room using one of the doors at the back of the room.    Upon exiting the room, turn RIGHT.  Follow the 
corridor to the emergency exit at the end of the hall.   

Upon exiting the building, proceed straight ahead through the parking lot to the fence at the end of the lot.  Wait there 
for further instructions. 

Training Room 1  
Exit the room using one of the doors at the back of the room.  Upon exiting the room, turn LEFT.  Follow the corridor 
to the emergency exit at the end of the hall.   

Upon exiting the building, proceed straight ahead through the parking lot to the fence at the end of the lot.  Wait there 
for further instructions. 

Training Room 2  
Exit the room using one of the doors at the back of the room.  Upon exiting the doors, turn LEFT.  Follow the corridor 
to the emergency exit at the end of the hall.   

Upon exiting the building, proceed straight ahead through the parking lot to the fence at the end of the lot.  Wait there 
for further instructions. 
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CIC OMBUDSMAN REGULATORY REVIEW COMMITTEE 
OF THE 

 COMMON INTEREST COMMUNITY BOARD 

MINUTES OF MEETING 

The CIC Ombudsman Regulatory Review Committee of the Common Interest Community Board 
(Board) met on June 2, 2023, at the Department of Professional and Occupational Regulation 
(DPOR), 9960 Mayland Drive, 2nd Floor, Board Room 4, Richmond, Virginia 23233. 

The following members were present: 

Maureen Baker 
Matt Durham (Ex-officio) 

Heather Gillespie 
Chad Rinard 

Phil Rodenberg 
Michael Zupan 

Committee members Eileen Greenberg and David Mercer were not 
present at the meeting. 

DPOR staff present for all or part of the meeting included: 

Trisha L. Lindsey, Executive Director 
Joseph C. Haughwout, Jr., Board and Regulatory Administrator 

Raven Custer, Administrative Coordinator 

Ms. Baker, called the meeting to order at 10:04 a.m.  Call to Order 

Ms. Baker advised the Committee of the emergency evacuation 
procedures. 

Emergency 
Evacuation 
Procedures 

Emergency 
Evacuation 
Procedures 

Mr. Durham moved to approve the agenda as presented.  Mr. Zupan 
seconded the motion which was unanimously approved by:   Baker, 
Durham, Gillespie, Rinard, Rodenberg, and Zupan. 

Approval of Agenda 

There were no members of the public present who wished to address the 
Committee. 

Public Comment 
Period 

Ms. Lindsey provided an overview of the responsibilities before the 
Committee.  

Review Purpose of 
Committee 
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CIC Ombudsman Regulatory Review Committee  
June 2, 2023 
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Drew Mulhare, Chair      
 
 
 
 
    
Demetrios J. Melis, Secretary     

Ms. Lindsey provided the Committee with an overview of the regulatory 
review process and timeline. 
  
Ms. Lindsey introduced staff and Committee members. Members and Staff 
  
The Committee was provided with the Common Interest Community 
Ombudsman Regulations, current versions of applicable laws, 
regulations and guidance documents, as well as Senate Bill 1042. 

Resources and 
Information 

  
Ms. Gillespie thanked the Committee for meeting to review the 
Common Interest Community Ombudsman Regulations. 
 
Ms. Lindsey presented the Committee with draft proposed amendments 
to Parts I through IV of the Common Interest Community Ombudsman 
Regulations, for review and consideration. 
 
Discussion was held on association complaint procedure requirements, 
as well as provisions for filing notice of final adverse decision. 

Consider 
Regulatory 
Amendments to 
Parts I through IV 

  
The Committee recessed from 11:52 a.m. to 12:25 p.m. Recess 
  
The Committee continued to consider regulatory amendments to Parts I 
through IV of the Common Interest Community Ombudsman 
Regulations. 
 
After discussion Mr. Rinard moved to approve the draft proposed 
regulations as amended.  Mr. Durham seconded the motion which was 
unanimously approved by:   Baker, Durham, Gillespie, Rinard, 
Rodenberg, and Zupan. 

Consider 
Regulatory 
Amendments to 
Parts I through IV, 
Continued 

  
The Committee discussed potential amendments to the regulations that 
would require statutory changes.  

Other Business 

  
There being no further business, the meeting adjourned at 1:27 p.m. Adjourn 
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 COMMON INTEREST COMMUNITY BOARD 
 

MINUTES OF MEETING 
 
 
The Common Interest Community Board (Board) met on June 8, 2023, at the Department of 
Professional and Occupational Regulation (DPOR), 9960 Mayland Drive, 2nd Floor, Board Room 
3, Richmond, Virginia 23233. 
 
The following members were present: 
  

Maureen A. Baker 
Matt Durham, Chair 

Eileen Greenberg 
Thomas Mazzei 
Lori Overholt 

Anne M. Sheehan 
Katherine E. Waddell 

  
Board members Jim Foley, David Mercer, Scott Sterling, and Margaret Tunstall were not in 

attendance at the meeting. 
  

DPOR staff present for all or part of the meeting included:  
  

Demetrios J. Melis, Director 
Stephen Kirschner, Licensing and Regulatory Programs Division Deputy Director 

Trisha L. Lindsey, Executive Director 
Heather Gillespie, Ombudsman 

Lisa Robinson, Licensing Administrator 
Raven C. Custer, Administrative Coordinator 

Lee Bryant, Programs Administrative Specialist 
 
Joshua Laws from the Office of the Attorney General was present. 
  
Finding a quorum of the Board present, Mr. Durham called the meeting 
to order at 10:00 a.m.   

Call to Order 

  
Mr. Durham advised the Board of the emergency evacuation procedures. Emergency 

Evacuation 
Procedures 

  
Ms. Lindsey requested the Board amend the agenda to remove item 
“Consider Temporary Cease and Desist Orders.” Ms. Overholt moved to 
approve the agenda as amended. Mr. Mazzei seconded the motion, 
which was unanimously approved by:   Baker, Durham, Greenberg, 
Mazzei, Overholt, Sheehan, and Waddell. 

Approval of Agenda 
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Common Interest Community Board 
Minutes of Meeting 
June 8, 2023 
Page 2 of 7 
  
   

 

 
  
Ms. Greenberg moved to approve the minutes of the March 9, 2023, 
Board Meeting as amended. Ms. Sheehan seconded the motion. The 
following members voted in favor of the motion which was unanimously 
approved by:   Baker, Durham, Greenberg, Mazzei, Overholt, Sheehan, 
and Waddell. 
 
Ms. Sheehan moved to approve the minutes of the March 15, 2023, SB 
740 Structural Integrity and Reserves Work Group Meeting, the April 10, 
2023, Board Meeting, and the April 25, 2023, Board Meeting as 
presented. Ms. Baker seconded the motion. The following Board 
Members voted in favor of the motion which was unanimously approved 
by:   Baker, Durham, Greenberg, Mazzei, Overholt, Sheehan, and 
Waddell. 

Approval of 
Minutes 

  
No members of the public present came forward to address the Board. Public Comment 

Period 
  
In the matter of File Number 2023-00261, Bethelehem G. Getachew, 
the Board members reviewed the record which consisted of the Notice 
of Prima Facie Case, Report of Findings, evidence, and the 
Recommendation. Ms. Waddell moved to accept the Recommendation 
and find Bethelehem G. Getachew in violation of 18 VAC 48-50-190.1 
as outlined in Count 1. Ms. Greenberg seconded the motion which was 
unanimously approved by:    Baker, Durham, Greenberg, Mazzei, 
Overholt, Sheehan, and Waddell. 
 
Ms. Greenberg moved to accept the Recommendation and impose a 
monetary penalty of $1,500.00, and license revocation for violation of 
Count 1. Ms. Waddell seconded the motion which was unanimously 
approved by:    Baker, Durham, Greenberg, Mazzei, Overholt, Sheehan, 
and Waddell. 

File Number 2023-
00261 Bethelehem 
G. Getachew 

  
Ms. Lindsey provided an update on the current status of the regulatory 
review processes for the Board’s regulatory packages: 
 
The CIC Manager Regulatory Review Committee recommendations and 
draft proposed amendments to the CIC Manager Regulations were 
approved, with revisions, by the Board at the March 3, 2022, Board 
meeting. The proposed regulatory text was submitted for Executive 
Branch review on March 14, 2022.  Ms. Lindsey advised that the Board 
will be asked to consider authorizing staff to reconvene the CIC 

Update on 
Regulatory Actions 
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Manager Regulatory Review Committee to revisit the proposed 
amendments at the request of the Governor’s office later in the meeting 
 
The Board authorized filing of the NOIRA and formation of a CIC 
Ombudsman Regulatory Review Committee on December 8, 2022, for 
conducting a general review of the Common Interest Community 
Ombudsman Regulations. The NOIRA is in development and the 
Committee met on June 2, 2023. 
 
Ms. Lindsey advised that the Board will be asked to consider 
authorizing staff to form a committee for the general review of the CIC 
Condominium Association Registration Regulations and to draft a 
NOIRA later in the meeting. 
 
The notice of CIC Condominium Regulations Periodic Review is 
currently in the filing stage. Once the notice of periodic review is filed a 
21-day public comment period will commence. 
  
Ms. Lindsey informed the Board that the Resale Disclosure Certificate 
will be distributed to various stakeholders ahead of its, effective date in 
order to allow those affected to remain in compliance come July 1, 
2023. 

Resale Disclosure 
Certificate Update 

  
Ms. Lindsey provided an update on the SB 740 Structural Integrity and 
Reserves Work Group. The Work Group held its final meeting on 
March 15, 2023. The final report has been submitted. 

Update on SB 740 
Structural Integrity 
and Reserves Work 
Group 

  
Ms. Lindsey provided an update on the CIC Ombudsman Regulatory 
Review Committee. The Committee met on June 2, 2023, and discussed 
amendments to the CIC Ombudsman Regulations. 

Update on CIC 
Ombudsman 
Regulatory Review 
Committee 

  
Ms. Lindsey requested that the Board authorize staff to develop the 
NOIRA and form a committee for the general review of the 
Condominium Association Registration Regulations. After discussion, 
Mr. Mazzei moved to authorize staff to develop the NOIRA and form a 
committee for the general review of the Condominium Association 
Registration Regulations. Ms. Greenberg seconded the motion which 
was unanimously approved by:    Baker, Durham, Greenberg, Mazzei, 
Overholt, Sheehan, and Waddell. 

Discussion on 
General Review of 
Condominium 
Regulations 

  
Ms. Lindsey asked the Board to consider authorizing staff to reconvene 
the CIC Manager Regulatory Review Committee to revisit proposed 

Discussion of 
Proposed 
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amendments at the request of the Governor’s office. After discussion 
Ms. Sheehan moved to authorize staff to reconvene the CIC Manager 
Regulatory Review Committee. Ms. Waddell seconded the motion 
which was unanimously approved by:    Baker, Durham, Greenberg, 
Mazzei, Overholt, Sheehan, and Waddell. 

Regulations for 
Common Interest 
Community 
Manager 

  
Ms. Lindsey provided the Board with a list of potential legislative items 
to be considered during the 2024 General Assembly session. Mr. 
Mazzei moved to approve the list of legislative items as presented. Ms. 
Waddell seconded the motion which was unanimously approved by:    
Baker, Durham, Greenberg, Mazzei, Overholt, Sheehan, and Waddell. 

2024 Legislative 
Discussion 

  
The Board was provided with a report from the Office of the Common 
Interest Community Ombudsman. The report contains statistics on 
complaints received by the Ombudsman’s office, as well as compliance 
and enforcement statistics.   

Ombudsman Report 

  
Ms. Lindsey provided the Board with the most recent financial 
statements. 

Board Financial 
Statements 

  
Board members considered the following resolutions for Trisha L. 
Lindsey. 
 

Trisha L. Lindsey 
 
WHEREAS, Trisha L. Lindsey did faithfully and diligently serve the 
Common Interest Community Board and the Department of 
Professional and Occupational Regulation; 
 
WHEREAS, Trisha L. Lindsey, did devote generously of her time, 
talent and leadership to the Board; 
 
WHEREAS, Trisha L. Lindsey, did endeavor at all times to render 
decisions with fairness and good judgement in the best interest of the 
citizens of the Commonwealth and these professions; and 
 
WHEREAS, the Common Interest Community Board wishes to 
acknowledge its gratitude for devoted service of a person who is held in 
high esteem by the members of the Board and the citizens of the 
Commonwealth; 
 
NOW THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED, by the Common Interest 
Community Board this eighth day of June 2023, that Trisha L. Lindsey 

Consider 
Resolutions for 
Service 

DRAFT AGENDA 

Materials contained in this agenda are proposed topics for discussion and are not to be construed as regulation or official Board position.



Common Interest Community Board 
Minutes of Meeting 
June 8, 2023 
Page 5 of 7 
  
   

 

be given all honors and respect due her for her outstanding service to 
this Board and the Commonwealth and its citizens; and 
 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that this Resolution be presented to her 
and be made a part of the official minutes of the Board so that all may 
know of the high regard in which she is held by this Board. 
 
Ms. Greenberg moved to adopt the resolution as written. Ms. Waddell 
seconded the motion which was unanimously approved by:   Baker, 
Durham, Greenberg, Mazzei, Overholt, Sheehan, and Waddell. 
 
Board members considered the following resolutions for Joseph 
Haughwout, Jr. 
 

Joseph Haughwout, Jr. 
 
WHEREAS, Joseph Haughwout, Jr., did faithfully and diligently 
serve as a member of the Common Interest Community Board from 
2016 to 2023; 
 
WHEREAS, Joseph Haughwout, Jr., did devote generously of his 
time, talent and leadership to the Board; 
 
WHEREAS, Joseph Haughwout, Jr., did endeavor at all times to 
render decisions with fairness and good judgement in the best interest of 
the citizens of the Commonwealth and these professions; and 
 
WHEREAS, the Common Interest Community Board wishes to 
acknowledge its gratitude for devoted service of a person who is held in 
high esteem by the members of the Board and the citizens of the 
Commonwealth; 
 
NOW THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED, by the Common Interest 
Community Board this eighth day of June 2023, that Joseph 
Haughwout, Jr. be given all honors and respect due him for his 
outstanding service to the Commonwealth and its citizens; and 
 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that this Resolution be presented to 
him and be made a part of the official minutes of the Board so that all 
may know of the high regard in which he is held by this Board. 
 
Ms. Baker moved to adopt the resolution as written. Ms. Overholt 
seconded the motion which was unanimously approved by:   Baker, 
Durham, Greenberg, Mazzei, Overholt, Sheehan, and Waddell. 
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Board members considered resolutions for the following SB 740 
Structural Integrity and Reserves Work Group Members who devoted 
their time and effort for the Common Interest Community: 
 

Walter Alcorn 
Jon Bach 

John Bailey 
Michelle Baldry 

Gary L. Beveridge 
Jeffrey Brown 

Steven Y. Brumfield 
Ron Clements 
Walter Diercks 
Mark D. Dix 
Lee Frame 

Heather Gillespie 
Colin A. Horner 

Kimberly B. Kacani 
Erin Kormann 

Rafael A. Martinez 
Theresa Melson 

Phoebe E. Neseth 
Edward J. O’Connell 

John Olivieri 
Phoebe Rolen 
Anne Sheehan 
Christ Stone 

Lucia Ann Trigiani 
Lynette Wuensch 

 
Ms. Greenberg moved to adopt the resolutions as written. Mr. Mazzei 
seconded the motion which was unanimously approved by:   Baker, 
Durham, Greenberg, Mazzei, Overholt, Sheehan, and Waddell. 
  
There was no other business for the Boar to discuss. Other Board 

Business 
  
Mr. Durham reminded Board members to complete their conflict of 
interest forms. 

Complete Conflict 
of Interest Forms 
and Travel 
Vouchers 
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Matt Durham, Chair      
 
 
 
 
    
Demetrios J. Melis, Secretary     

There being no further business, the meeting was adjourned at 11:10 
a.m. 

Adjourn 
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INTRODUCTION OF NEW BOARD 
MEMBERS 
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PUBLIC COMMENT PERIOD 

Five minute public comment, per person, with the 

exception of any open disciplinary or application files. 
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Update on Regulatory Actions 
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Periodic Review of Board 
Regulations 
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Consider Authorizing NOIRA and 
Committee Membership for Time-

Share Regulations General 

Review 
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Consider Authorizing NOIRA for CIC 
Association Registration Regulations 

General Review 
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Consider Condominium Regulations 
Regulatory Review Committee 
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Common Interest Community Manager Regulatory Review  Committee Members 

Pia Trigiani, Chair Former CIC Board Chair, CIC Attorney 
Jim Foley CIC Board Member, CC Manager 
Amanda Jonas CIC Board Member, CIC Manager/Developer representative 
Anne Sheehan CIC Board Member, CPA 
Chris Melson Former CIC Board Member, CIC Manager 
Paul Orlando Former CIC Board Member, CIC Manager 
Nan Piland Real Estate Board Member 
Matt Durham Community Association Governing Board Member 
Bonnie Herring CIC Manager 
Drew Mulhare CIC Board Chair, Ex-officio 

DPOR/Common Interest Community Board Staff 

Trisha Lindsey Executive Director 
Joe Haughwout Board and Regulatory Administrator 
Tanya Pettus Board Administrator 
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MEMORANDUM 

TO: Members, Common Interest Community Board 

FROM: Tanya M. Pettus, Board Administrator 
Virginia Board for Asbestos, Lead, and Home Inspectors 
Board for Waterworks and Wastewater Works Operators and Onsite 
Sewage System Professionals 

DATE: September 21, 2023 

SUBJECT: Granting Continuances for Disciplinary and Licensing Cases 
Brought Before the Board 

I. Background

As other Boards within the Agency have received inquiries from respondents regarding 
requesting a continuance of the Board’s review and decision of their disciplinary cases, 
it was determined that the CIC Board does not currently have a policy on granting 
continuances for disciplinary or licensing cases. 

II. Applicable Regulation

§2.2-4021.B of the Code of Virginia requires that, “in any informal fact-finding, formal
proceeding, or summary case decision proceeding in which a hearing officer is not …
not empowered to recommend a finding, the board, commission, or agency personnel
responsible for rendering a decision shall render that decision within 90 days from the
date of the informal fact-finding, formal proceeding, or completion of a summary case
decision proceeding, or from a later date agreed to by the named party and the
agency…”

III. Consideration of Policy
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As the Code of Virginia provides a means for respondents or their attorneys to request 
case decisions to be rendered later than the 90-day timeframe from the date of the 
informal fact-finding conference, staff recommends the Board adopt the following policy 
governing continuances for disciplinary and licensing cases.  This will ensure 
consistency in considering requests for continuance going forward. 

1. All requests for a continuance of a case must be in writing. 

2. Requests for a continuance of a licensing case may be granted administratively by 
the Board’s Executive Director or designee. 

3. Requests for a continuance for disciplinary cases in which the recommended 
sanction does not include license revocation may be granted administratively by the 
Board’s Executive Director or designee. The Executive Director may only grant one 
continuance to the next meeting for any case. Any further requests for a continuance 
may only be granted by vote of the Board at the next meeting in which the case is to be 
considered. 

4. Requests for a continuance for disciplinary cases in which the recommended 
sanction includes license revocation may only be granted by vote of the Board at the 
meeting in which the case is scheduled to be considered. 
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Litigation Update
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Code of Virginia 

Title 54.1. Professions and Occupations 

Subtitle II. Professions and Occupations Regulated by the Department of Professional and 

Occupational Regulation and Boards within the Department 

Chapter 23.3. Common Interest Communities 

Article 2. Common Interest Community Management Information Fund; Common Interest 

Community Ombudsman; Common Interest Community Management Recovery Fund 

§ 54.1-2354.2. Common Interest Community Management
Information Fund

A. There is hereby created the Common Interest Community Management Information Fund,

referred to in this section as "the Fund," to be used in the discretion of the Board to promote the

improvement and more efficient operation of common interest communities through research

and education. The Fund shall be established on the books of the Comptroller. The Fund shall

consist of money paid into it pursuant to§§ 54.1-2349, 55.1-1835, 55.1-1980, and 55.1-2182, and

such money shall be paid into the state treasury and credited to the Fund. Interest earned on

moneys in the Fund shall remain in the Fund and be credited to it. Any moneys remaining in the

Fund, including interest thereon, at the end of each fiscal year shall not revert to the general

fund but, at the discretion of the Board, shall remain in the Fund or shall be transferred to the

Common Interest Community Management Recovery Fund established pursuant to§ 54.1-2354.5

B. Expenses for the operations of the Office of the Common Interest Community Ombudsman,

including the compensation paid to the Common Interest Community Ombudsman, shall be paid

first from interest earned on deposits constituting the Fund and the balance from the moneys

collected annually in the Fund. The Board may use the remainder of the interest earned on the

balance of the Fund and of the moneys collected annually and deposited in the Fund for

financing or promoting the following:

1. Information and research in the field of common interest community management and

operation;

2. Expeditious and inexpensive procedures for resolving complaints about an association from

members of the association or other citizens;

3. Seminars and educational programs designed to address topics of concern to community

associations; and

4. Other programs deemed necessary and proper to accomplish the purpose of this article.

C. Following the close of any biennium, when the Common Interest Community Management

Information Fund shows expenses allocated to it for the past biennium to be more than 10

percent greater or less than moneys collected on behalf of the Board, the Board shall revise the

fees levied by it for placement into the Fund so that the fees are sufficient but not excessive to

cover expenses. A fee established pursuant to § 55.1-1835, 55.1-1980, or 55.1-2182 shall not

exceed $25 unless such fee is based on the number of units or lots in the association.

1993, c. 958, § 55-529; 2008, cc. 851, 871;2019, cc. 391, 712. 

The chanters of the acts of assemhlv referenced in the historical citation at the end of this 

DRAFT AGENDA 

Materials contained in this agenda are proposed topics for discussion and are not to be construed as regulation or official Board position.



DRAFT AGENDA 

Materials contained in this agenda are proposed topics for discussion and are not to be construed as regulation or official Board position.



2022-2024 Biennium June 2023

June 2023 July 2020 - July 2022 -
Activity June 2021 June 2023

Cash/Revenue Balance Brought Forward 0

Revenues 77,100 608,379 633,032

Cumulative Revenues 633,032

Cost Categories:

Board Expenditures 30,453 423,709 434,331

Board Administration 0 0 0

Administration of Exams 0 0 0

Enforcement 19,162 138,602 188,137

Legal Services 0 2,092 2,242

Information Systems 11,319 78,437 76,889

Facilities and Support Services 7,860 74,811 76,953

Agency Administration 6,523 48,568 81,261

Other / Transfers 4,415 5,023 4,415

Total Expenses 79,731 771,241 864,228

Transfer To/(From) Cash Reserves (1,351) 0 (243,691)

Ending Cash/Revenue Balance 12,495

Cash Reserve Beginning Balance 2,457,854 0 2,700,194
Change in Cash Reserve (1,351) 0 (243,691)
Ending Cash Reserve Balance 2,456,503 0 2,456,503

Number of Regulants
Current Month 7,835
Previous Biennium-to-Date 7,369

Department of Professional and Occupational Regulation
Statement of Financial Activity

Common Interest Community Board

Biennium-to-Date Comparison

954520
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06/22/2023 

2024 TENTATIVE BOARD MEETING SCHEDULE 

CIC BOARD 
Training Program Review Committee Board Meeting 
Thursday, March 28, 2024 @ 9:30 am 

Board Room 1 
Thursday, March 28, 2024 @ 10:00 am 

Board Room 1 
Thursday, May 30, 2024 @ 9:30am 

Board Room 1 
Thursday, May 30, 2024 @ 10:00am 

Board Room 1 
Monday, May 13, 2024 @ 9:30am 

Board Room 4 
Monday, May 13, 2024 @ 10:00am 

Board Room 4 
Thursday, June 6, 2024 @ 9:30 am 

Board Room 2 
Thursday, June 6, 2024 @ 10:00 am 

Board Room 2 
Friday, September 27, 2024 @ 9:30 am 

Board Room 2 
Friday, September 27, 2024 @ 10:00 am 

Board Room 2 
Thursday, December 5, 2024 @ 9:30 am 

Board Room 3 
Thursday, December 5, 2024 @10:00am 

Board Room 3 
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 01  

 02                               NOTE:  The hearing

 03  commences at 2:00 p.m., as follows:

 04                    MR. MULHARE:  And good afternoon.  I

 05  am Drew Mulhare, a designee of the Common Interest

 06  Community Board.  This is the reconvening of the

 07  Informal Factfinding Conference, held on May 5, 2023, to

 08  hear additional information regarding regulatory issues

 09  involved in this matter.

 10                    I now reconvene the conference to

 11  accept presentations from the Department staff and those

 12  individuals who are present.

 13                    MR. BENNETT:  Thank you, Mr. Mulhare.

 14  My name is Jonathan Bennett.  And I'm here on the

 15  Department staff, along with my colleague, Free

 16  Williams.

 17                    The first thing I'm going to do is

 18  introduce the exhibits into the record.  And I'm only

 19  going to add the exhibits that are new since the May 5th

 20  convening of the IFF.

 21                    Board Exhibit 5 is the transcript of

 22  the May 5, 2023 convening of the IFF.

 23                    Board Exhibit 6 is a collection of

 24  e-mails, starting on May 10, 2023, from a party not

 25  previously identified in the case, that was sent to
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 01  Mr. Mulhare.  Mr. Mulhare then sent a copy of that

 02  e-mail to myself and Mr. Williams, notifying the third

 03  party that it was improper for her to contact him after

 04  the IFF.

 05                    I then sent an e-mail to Mr. Mulhare,

 06  requesting that he not read that e-mail, and Mr. Mulhare

 07  responded by saying that he concurred with that.

 08                    Board Exhibit 7 is a collection of

 09  e-mails between Mr. Williams and Paul Schmidt, the

 10  attorney for Atlantic Community Management, beginning on

 11  May 11, 2023.  Mr. Williams e-mailed Mr. Schmidt to

 12  notify him that Mr. Mulhare received a communication

 13  regarding this matter from a person not previously

 14  involved in the case.  And it requested from Mr. Schmidt

 15  available dates to reconvene the IFF to evaluate the

 16  appropriate weight, if any, to give that communication,

 17  as well as give Atlantic the opportunity to respond to

 18  that communication.

 19                    On May 17, 2023, Mr. Schmidt

 20  responded, asking for the statutory authority to

 21  reconvene the IFF on May 18th.  Mr. Williams responded

 22  by giving him the Administrative Process Act;

 23  specifically, Section 2.2-4019 of the Code of Virginia,

 24  and also providing a copy of the e-mail communication,

 25  which is in Board Exhibit 6.
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 01                    And then, on June 2, 2023,

 02  Mr. Williams again sent an e-mail to Mr. Schmidt,

 03  requesting available dates to reconvene the IFF.

 04                    Exhibit Atlantic 6 is a letter dated

 05  June 12, 2023, from Mr. Schmidt to Mr. Williams, where

 06  Mr. Schmidt objects to reconvening the IFF Conference

 07  and, in part, states that Atlantic respectfully declines

 08  your invitation.

 09                    Then finally, Board Exhibit 8 is a

 10  letter from myself to Mr. Schmidt, with a copy sent to

 11  Atlantic Community Corporation, notifying each of them

 12  of the date of the reconvening of the IFF Conference.

 13  Both copies of that were delivered.

 14                    Prior to the commencement of these

 15  proceedings, staff checked voicemails in the common

 16  areas of the Department.  I also checked my e-mail as

 17  well.  There was no voicemail, e-mail or any response

 18  from the respondent.

 19                    Mr. Mulhare, seeing that there are no

 20  individuals present to address the regulatory issues,

 21  are requesting to fully review the record and make a

 22  determination as to whether or not the respondent is in

 23  violation of the regulation.

 24                    So, as I noted by reading Board

 25  Exhibit 7, the purpose of reconvening today's IFF
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 01  Conference was to evaluate whether or not to give any

 02  weight whatsoever to the communication Mr. Mulhare

 03  received on May 10, 2023.

 04                    At this point, Mr. Mulhare, I would

 05  like to give you the opportunity to make any statements

 06  you have regarding that communication, that you received

 07  on May 10, 2023.

 08                    MR. MULHARE:  Thank you.  I want to

 09  acknowledge I did receive that e-mail on May 10th, and I

 10  did open that e-mail.  I'm not sure if it was the

 11  subject line or the first sentence or so, after the

 12  subject line, indicated to me immediately that it was

 13  inappropriate for me to be looking at this.  So I did

 14  not look at the rest of that e-mail, and simply

 15  responded to the person who had sent it to me.  And I

 16  copied yourself and Mr. Williams, just saying that it

 17  was inappropriate for me to receive this.

 18                    And then you responded to me to

 19  disregard it.  So I have disregarded it.  I have not

 20  read beyond what I initially read in those few moments

 21  on May 10th.  And it is part of the record now, but I

 22  still have not reviewed it, and I see no reason to

 23  review it.

 24                    So, you know, I have let the

 25  conference that was convened on May 5th stand on its
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 01  own, and leave it at that.  And I would encourage

 02  anybody, the Board, following my review of this

 03  particular case, to do likewise.

 04                    MR. BENNETT:  Okay.

 05                    MR. WILLIAMS:  I think, with that, we

 06  can conclude the conference.

 07  

 08                               NOTE:  The hearing

 09  concluded at 1:19 p.m.

 10  

 11  

 12  

 13  

 14  

 15  

 16  

 17  

 18  

 19  

 20  

 21  

 22  

 23  

 24  

 25  
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 01               CERTIFICATE OF COURT REPORTER

 02  

 03  

 04                    I, Dawn Testa, hereby certify that I

 05  was the court Reporter at the informal fact-Finding

 06  Conference regarding Atlantic Community Management,

 07  Inc., heard in the County of Henrico, Virginia, on

 08  July 17, 2023, at the time of the hearing herein.

 09                    I further certify that the foregoing

 10  transcript is, to the best of my ability, a true and

 11  accurate record of the testimony and incidents of the

 12  hearing herein.

 13                    Given under my hand this 17th day of

 14  July, 2023.

 15  

 16                    Dawn Testa

                       Notary Registration No. 7811201

 17  

 18  

 19  My Commission Expires:

     August 31, 2023

 20  

 21  

 22  

 23  

 24  

 25  
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 01  

 02                                            NOTE:  The

 03  hearing convened at 1:30 p.m.

 04                    MR. MULHARE:  Good afternoon.  I'm

 05  Drew Mulhare, designee of the Common Community Interest

 06  Board.

 07                    This is the informal factfinding

 08  conference to hear additional information regarding

 09  regulatory issues involved in this matter.

 10                    I now convene to accept presentations

 11  from the Department staff and those individuals who are

 12  present.

 13                    MR. BENNETT:  Thank you, Mr. Mulhare.

 14  My name is Jonathan Bennett.  And I am here on the part

 15  of Department staff, along with my colleague, Free

 16  Williams.

 17                    The first thing I want to do is

 18  introduce the exhibits into the record:  Board Exhibit 1

 19  is the Revised Report of Findings in the Investigative

 20  File.

 21                    And Board Exhibit 2 is the Notice of

 22  Informal Factfinding Conference, which was sent from

 23  myself to Property Management Associates, LLC, on June

 24  27, 2023, notifying Property Management Associates of

 25  today's IFF Conference.  And that I have just noted was
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 01  delivered.

 02                    At this point, before I get everyone's

 03  name and address, I just want to note for the record

 04  that we do have a Court Reporter who will be making a

 05  transcript of today's conference.  So I ask, just to

 06  make sure her job easier, to please speak slowly, loudly

 07  and clearly and try not to talk over anyone; again, just

 08  to make her job as easy as possible.

 09                    So, at this point, I just want to ask

 10  that everyone who participates today, please state their

 11  name and mailing address for the record.  And I will

 12  start with Mr. McPartland.

 13                    MR. MC PARTLAND:  My name is John

 14  McPartland; mailing address is 4605 Pembroke Lake

 15  Circle, Suite 302, Virginia Beach, Virginia 23455.

 16                    MR. BENNETT:  Thank you.  Miss Hatch?

 17                    MS. HATCH:  My name is Vicki Hatch;

 18  mailing address is 4605 Pembroke Lake Circle, Suite 302,

 19  Virginia Beach, Virginia 23455.

 20                    MR. BENNETT:  Thank you.  And, just to

 21  be clear, Vicki is V-i-c-k-i?

 22                    MS. HATCH:  Correct.  Miss Harrison?

 23                    MS. HARRISON:  My name is Lynne Marie

 24  Harrison.  My mailing address is:  PO Box 3710,

 25  Petersburg, Virginia, under the name of Cedar Lawn
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 01  Homeowner's Association.

 02                    MR. BENNETT:  And, Miss Harrison, just

 03  again to clarify for the record, the name is L-y-n-n-e?

 04                    MS. HARRISON:  Correct.

 05                    MR. BENNETT:  Thank you.  All right.

 06  At this point, before we jump into the revised Report of

 07  Findings, Mr. McPartland, could you just give

 08  Mr. Mulhare kind of a brief overview of PMA's history in

 09  the Common Interest Community world; how long have you

 10  been doing this, the types of property you manage,

 11  things like that.

 12                    MR. MC PARTLAND:  Sure.  PMA, I

 13  started the company in 2004.  So we're 18 years old this

 14  September.  And we exclusively do condominiums and

 15  homeowner's associations.  We started out working with

 16  developers and bringing properties from development

 17  through to full build out, into where homeowners take

 18  over.

 19                    Had a very successful company.  We

 20  started with -- I started with myself; basically,

 21  grassroots, laptop and cell phone and working.

 22                    As I was transitioning careers in

 23  2009, I built the business to a level where we were able

 24  to -- I would leave my other career and bought our

 25  office building, renovated it, and starting adding
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 01  staff.

 02                    So in 2009 we were sixteen

 03  communities.  Now we're over a hundred.  I have a staff

 04  of twenty-eight.  We have seventy-two hundred square

 05  feet of office space in the area of Virginia Beach.

 06                    And we really work very well with our

 07  clients, for the most part.  And all of our business

 08  growth has come through attorneys and referrals.  We

 09  don't advertise.  When we get clients, it's because

 10  people are saying:  Hey, this is a company we want to

 11  use.

 12                    MR. BENNETT:  Okay.  At this point, we

 13  can go ahead, and we'll jump into the Revised Report of

 14  Findings.

 15                    Count 1 of the Revised Report of

 16  Findings alleges that PMA failed to provide complete

 17  records, related to the management of Cedar Lawn

 18  Homeowner's Association, to Cedar Lawn, within 30 days

 19  of written request by Cedar Lawn, or within 30 days of

 20  the termination of the contract.

 21                    Mr. McPartland, what would you like to

 22  say regarding Count 1?

 23                    MR. MC PARTLAND:  So, when we look at

 24  the complaint, it starts out with an e-mail on June 2

 25  saying:  Please prepare the records to come over.
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 01                    What it fails to do is go back to

 02  April 3rd. You know, we had determined -- we decided we

 03  didn't want to manage the Association any more.  And so

 04  we submitted our termination, gave ninety day's notice,

 05  giving the Board ample time to find a replacement

 06  provide management company.

 07                    Starting April 3, we were inundated,

 08  myself and mostly, Vicki, because Vicki is really the

 09  main point of contact, with e-mail, e-mail every day,

 10  asking for different things.  And I think this is in the

 11  exhibit:  What's your process in transitioning?  And we

 12  explained the process, which is coming up to, we can get

 13  the documents you need right now, which they already

 14  had.  But then, as you get towards the end, we're going

 15  to pull everything together, all the archive files,

 16  everything else, have it all organized.  We have it all

 17  organized.  And we're going to provide that to you, with

 18  the closing financials and the checks and everything

 19  else.  We try to do it very clean:  Here it is.  It's

 20  all right there.  That's our standard process.

 21                    And, regardless of saying that, it was

 22  relentless that every day Vicki is on the phone with

 23  e-mails or faxes.  We would get requests, the same

 24  request, by fax, by e-mail, by e-mail from a different

 25  e-mail address.  It just got to be extremely
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 01  overwhelming to try to mange it.

 02                    I, myself, and I'm not the point of

 03  contact, had over 172 e-mails within two months, just

 04  from Lynne, just with requests.  And most of the

 05  requests, if not all of them, came in a very adversarial

 06  way, threatening:  If you don't give this to us right

 07  now, we're going to go do this or we're going to do

 08  that.

 09                    And, to kind of back up, I really -- I

 10  mean, obviously there's a history between Miss Harrison

 11  and the Association for many years that predates us.

 12  When we got involved in the community, we were,

 13  basically, were -- I don't want to say doing a favor,

 14  because that's not really the right thing to say.  A

 15  very well-respected attorney that we work with in other

 16  communities said:  Hey, we need to start a management

 17  company that can help us out in this property out here.

 18  They had a problem with a lawsuit, with the clubhouse.

 19  It was, like -- I'm not even fully versed on it, because

 20  it was cut before us.  But they came -- they got, like,

 21  sixty grand of money coming from them.  And they needed

 22  to get things done.  And the books were not -- were just

 23  nonexistent.  So they said:  Would you mind helping me

 24  out with this?  So we talked to the Board, and we came

 25  on board.
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 01                    Not long after that, I guess our

 02  manager -- Miss Harrison made a request for an ADA

 03  reasonable accommodation, Americans with Disabilities

 04  Act.  And I guess she didn't care for how our manager

 05  handled it.  I'm not fully -- you know, at that point,

 06  it was just -- it was an area that was -- not to get off

 07  the topic, but it was something to do with a parking

 08  spot was already hers, wanting it to have the

 09  association paint, the logos and stuff, on it.

 10                    It was down the road from there, all

 11  of a sudden, now I got their housing complaint.  The

 12  last five years, there's been two or three Fair Housing

 13  complaints, all of which were dismissed, with nothing

 14  found, and numerous -- I can't even count how many DPOR

 15  complaints were submitted in.  There was no basis for

 16  any of it; in fact, at one point, I got a call from

 17  Miss Gillespie, where I spoke with her at length about

 18  the volume of complaints that Miss Harrison was

 19  submitting to DPOR, to the point that she told me that

 20  she had to provide a cease and desist letter from

 21  Miss Harrison, because she was, basically, shutting down

 22  the office with all of the complaints coming in, all of

 23  which really had no basis.

 24                    That's fine.  I mean, we were just

 25  trying to do the right thing for the community, help the
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 01  Board.  And the records were very, very spotty.  So we

 02  were working with what we had.

 03                    And so, if we didn't have evidence of

 04  someone having payments made, you know, we sent a late

 05  notice.  They would say:  Oh no, I paid it.  Okay.

 06  Great.  Just provide us proof of payment so we can see

 07  that you have a canceled check or whatever and we can

 08  take care of it.  Miss Harrison didn't want to do that.

 09  She swore up and down she paid them.  I'm not doubting

 10  that, just, we just need evidence of it.

 11                    Then I got served a warrant in debt at

 12  my house.  I got, personally, served by her.  You know,

 13  she tried to sue me, take me to Court, for her

 14  delinquent assessments.  And I got an attorney who,

 15  obviously saw -- got the Court to dismiss it, so I

 16  didn't have to drive all the way out to Petersburg, to

 17  go sit in Small Claims Court, to get it dismissed.

 18                    But, again, I have never really -- if

 19  I have had, maybe, two conversations, brief

 20  conversations, with Miss Harrison, over the five years,

 21  that would probably be it.  I don't know if it's just

 22  PMA she's not happy with or just life in general or me.

 23  I don't recall having ever done anything to her, no ill

 24  will, no desire to do anything.  I just wanted to do the

 25  right thing.
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 01                    So fast forward, we have all these

 02  complaints.  We have been listening to this thing for

 03  five years.  It's just exhausting.  So we finally said:

 04  Enough is enough.  So we put in our -- we resigned, put

 05  in the notice.

 06                    At that point, we actually put the

 07  resignation just before the annual meeting, where she

 08  was now elected to the Board.  And she was on the Board

 09  previously, I think, for a short period of time, while

 10  another manager, Marjorie Green was the manager.

 11                    But right away, the requests started

 12  coming in, asking for every single document, multiple

 13  times.  And, Vicki, God love her, she can talk about it,

 14  did her best to answer every one of those.

 15                    Did we answer every single one of

 16  them, I can't say we did.  You know, when all the

 17  complaints and things were going on, under the advice of

 18  the attorney, the Association's attorney, because of the

 19  amount of volume coming in -- and we're literally

 20  shutting down management's office.  And the Board was

 21  getting overwhelmed, the Board, under advice, decided

 22  that all communications goes through the attorney.

 23                    So, at that point, I wasn't -- I'm

 24  just following directions.  I'm not going to question

 25  the attorney and the Board's direction to do that.  So
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 01  I'm not really responding to those, and I'm letting our

 02  staff do it.  I found, when I would respond, that it

 03  would get twisted.  If you ever see -- if you read

 04  through the e-mails, you'll notice a lot of them, you

 05  will never see a complete e-mail chain.  You see just a

 06  part of the e-mail that works for her.

 07                    And, so, like -- in fact I think

 08  there's in here, where a couple of them, where she shows

 09  an excerpt of an e-mail and says:  No response; but that

 10  was actually part of an e-mail where the response was to

 11  the question that she asked.  So it one of those things

 12  where it's, like, you just can't win.  So I decided I'm

 13  just going to be in the background.  That's why I have

 14  staff.  They are the point of contact.  And that's the

 15  way we proceeded.

 16                    So any time I would respond to

 17  something, she would send it out saying:  Failed to

 18  respond.  Well, the company responds; not me,

 19  personally.  Miss Harrison seems to think sometimes

 20  well:  You're the -- you must be the one to respond.

 21  It's, like, one of these things where it's just like,

 22  there's no way that you can do all that with this volume

 23  of e-mails, just thousands of them, thousands of

 24  e-mails, faxes.  There's no way to wade through all of

 25  them.
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 01                    That being said, we were just

 02  finishing up the contract, doing what we can, making a

 03  smooth transition.  She had asked how we were doing.  We

 04  told her.  And yet again, the requests still came in.

 05  And we said:  You know, you're causing -- per contract,

 06  I should be charging you more for this, because you're

 07  eating up a disproportionate amount of our time, which

 08  is also impacting our ability to service our other

 09  clients.

 10                    So now we get to the last month.  And

 11  we're ready to this, nicely packaged up.  And then, all

 12  of a sudden, on, like, the 15th of the month, we're

 13  going on-line to do some of the banking, and we don't

 14  have access.  And I called the bank.  And they informed

 15  me that Miss Harrison reached out to them, said

 16  something to -- and I'm paraphrasing:  She believes that

 17  there's some misdoings here.  And, being the Board, she

 18  wants all the accounts shut down immediately, and moved

 19  all the money out, which, basically, I had no access.  I

 20  couldn't even get reports or anything.  It made it

 21  almost impossible to really close out the financials at

 22  the end of the month.  I didn't get access to any

 23  reports until almost the end of July.  And then, when we

 24  got that, we were able to finish the reports.

 25                    But it almost cost the Association
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 01  their insurance, because the insurance, although it was

 02  paid, the check hadn't fully clearly yet, because we

 03  work through Avid Pay.  And, while the insurance company

 04  received the check, Avid Pay, it hadn't cleared.  And

 05  the banks were shut down.

 06                    So Avid Pay is calling us.  And

 07  they're threatening us, saying:  We need $3,000 dollars

 08  for this insurance premium.  Either we're going to get

 09  it back from the insurance company, or we're going to

 10  pay it.  And they threatened to shut down all my other

 11  access to Avid Pay until this was cleared.

 12                    Fortunately -- and I had no ability to

 13  do that.  I had no access to any of the money, however,

 14  to pay the bill.  And Miss Harrison was insisting we

 15  pay.  And then she went and jumped in and had everything

 16  shut down.  We didn't get paid for our final month, plus

 17  we didn't get our expenses.  Still, to this day, I

 18  haven't been paid for that.

 19                    And, honestly, at this point, I just

 20  want to be done.  But, you know, it's one of those

 21  things where it's, like, we're just trying to do the

 22  right thing.  We have never had any ill will, always had

 23  a stellar reputation, as far as doing an outstanding job

 24  with financials, doing an outstanding job for our

 25  communities.  And then, all of a sudden we're, like,
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 01  acting like criminals.  I have an 18-year relationship

 02  with this bank.  And they're, like:  What's going on

 03  John?  Why are the Board members saying you guys are,

 04  basically, stealing money, which obviously, every penny

 05  was always accounted for.  We would never do anything

 06  like that in a million years.  That's certainty quite --

 07  certainly quite embarrassing and unnecessary.  And, had

 08  she just allowed us to do what we do, the way we do it,

 09  we would have had everything ready within a week, after

 10  the end of the month.  It's a small account, so it's

 11  easy financials.  And it would have been a smooth

 12  transition over to whoever they wanted.

 13                    We didn't even -- we had a lot of

 14  difficulty getting communications out of where the files

 15  were to go.  One week it's:  Send it to the management

 16  company, although she wouldn't provide the name.  Then

 17  we got e-mails saying:  I forbid you to talk anything

 18  negative about us, to the new management company.  Like,

 19  first of all, we don't ever have those kinds of

 20  conversations, and we would never do it.  And I don't

 21  know where this is coming from; but it was, like:  I

 22  don't want you to talk to them.

 23                    So we couldn't find out.  We finally

 24  found out who it was.  And so we're talking with them,

 25  but then we get an e-mail so:  Well, maybe we want you
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 01  to send it to the lawyer.  We'll get back to you, or

 02  maybe we want you to send it to us; basically, just all

 03  over the place.

 04                    And meanwhile, we're sending stuff to

 05  her and she he got it.  Ninety-nine percent of

 06  everything before the -- just from the constant requests

 07  and every single document.  But it was so piecemeal.  It

 08  was very difficult to really wrap your hands around and

 09  say this is clean.  This is the way we do it.  We always

 10  do it clean.

 11                    So needless to say, at that point,

 12  after we got through doing that, we had reached out and

 13  spoke with the new management company, who they were

 14  kind of unsure of their role.  And they were saying:

 15  Well, I will have to check with Lynne.  I'm not sure

 16  what we're going to do.  I said:  Well, we have it all

 17  here, ready to pick up.  And that's all been the

 18  standard operating procedure.  The inbound company

 19  always goes and gets the files.  It's not the outgoing

 20  company delivers it.  I don't know what your experience

 21  has been, but that's the way, down in our area, it's

 22  always been that way.  I have driven to Richmond a

 23  hundred times, picking up files and stuff.

 24                    So Miss Harrison was saying:  No, your

 25  contract says -- which it doesn't -- that you have to
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 01  deliver it to us.  So we're not driving down there.  And

 02  you have to bring it to us.  I said:  Well, we really

 03  shouldn't even be dealing with the homeowner or the

 04  Board on that.  This has always between the management

 05  companies, as far as the transfer.

 06                    We had really limited communication

 07  with them, because I got the feeling that, when we did

 08  talk, they were, like:  I really can't talk to you.  I

 09  have been told not to talk to you.  So it's like:  Okay.

 10  How are we going to get this done, but . . .

 11                    So the phone was down there.  Okay.

 12  And then, I don't know, maybe several weeks later, maybe

 13  a month or so, I notice that the back of the corner

 14  room, the stuff is still sitting there.  So we reached

 15  out and said:  Hey, you guys are not picking this stuff

 16  up.  And then we talked about:  Okay.  Well we'll send

 17  the critical stuff, you know, the thumb drive and stuff.

 18  We'll mail it, which we did.

 19                    Never heard anything else.  So we just

 20  assumed everything is good; until October, all of a

 21  sudden, we get a complaint that we didn't provide the

 22  documents, and we go from there, so . . .

 23                    MR. BENNETT:  I have several follow-up

 24  questions, but I would like to circle back to, kind of,

 25  narrowing down specifically what documents were provided
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 01  versus what wasn't.

 02                    And, noting your Revised Report of

 03  Findings, Exhibits R-6 through R-84, are the copied

 04  documents that you had provided to the investigator,

 05  representing:  This is what was provided.

 06                    MR. MC PARTLAND:  Everything we have.

 07                    MR. BENNETT:  Yes, directly to

 08  Miss Harrison or to the new management company.  So, as

 09  noted on Page 7 of Revised Report of Findings Board,

 10  that collection of documents includes:  Copies of Cedar

 11  Lawn financial records from October 2017 through June

 12  2022; e-mails between Miss Harrison and PMA

 13  representatives; Cedar Lawn insurance policy with

 14  Travelers Insurance; e-mails between yourself and the

 15  bank, which you referenced earlier regarding the access

 16  to the bank account; and one copy of the March 31, 2022

 17  Cedar lawn Board of Director's meeting.

 18                    Also, as noted on that same page, is

 19  the documents do not include any copies of vendor

 20  contracts, invoices, receipts relating to the operation

 21  and maintenance of Cedar Lawn; homeowner service

 22  requests; draft budgets or any documents related to any

 23  Cedar Lawn Board of Director's meeting, other than that

 24  March 31, 2022.

 25                    So my main question regarding that is:
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 01  What happened with all of the other documents related to

 02  Cedar Lawn, not including what we have in the record?

 03                    MR. MC PARTLAND:  So first, it's

 04  assuming that we had -- that those documents existed or

 05  they were given to us, in our possession.  So we only

 06  maintain the documents that are given, like minutes.

 07  They didn't have a lot of meetings.  We don't take

 08  minute meetings.  That's not part of our scope.  It's

 09  done by the secretary.  So if the secretary doesn't take

 10  them or doesn't provide them to us -- not that we

 11  wouldn't ask.  We would ask:  Hey, we need the minutes.

 12  And they're not forthcoming.  If they don't come,

 13  there's not a lot we can do.

 14                    Contracts, they really didn't have a

 15  lot of contracts.  And in fact, at the end, I don't

 16  think there were -- and you know better than me what

 17  they had.

 18                    MS. HATCH:  Okay.  May I speak?

 19                    MR. BENNETT:  Sure.  Go ahead.

 20                    MS. HATCH:  So I came in right during

 21  a lot of the transition with the prior Board, and then

 22  through the annual meeting.  Right after the annual

 23  meeting and Miss Harrison was elected as the Board

 24  President, she requested everything; everything from

 25  minutes, the minutes, financials, contracts.  Everything
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 01  that we had on file, delinquency reports, everything.

 02                    And right out of the gate, I sent

 03  everything over to her.  It was always something going

 04  out, pretty much, on a daily basis.  And, if we had it

 05  in our possession, she had it.  So even prior to the

 06  termination, she had multiple copies of all the

 07  documents.  I, personally, sent them out.

 08                    And we work on a team base.  We're a

 09  team-based organization.  I was the Association Manager

 10  at the time.  We also had an accounting team, we have a

 11  customer service team.  And these e-mails, I would get

 12  e-mails.  And anybody's e-mail that Miss Harrison had

 13  from PMA was cc'd on there.  Occasionally, some of them,

 14  some names would be left off of the e-mails.  But I

 15  would get the same e-mail through e-mail, through fax,

 16  through customer service.  And then I would get them

 17  through accounting.  So I was, literally, being

 18  bombarded with requests, the same request, multiple

 19  times.

 20                    Then, with that, I'm trying to keep up

 21  with all the requests.  Also, I probably responded

 22  faster than normal, because I saw the multiple requests

 23  coming, just from the different departments.  And, to be

 24  able to free up the other departments, I was handling

 25  them right away.
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 01                    I do know that some, she was including

 02  Mr. McPartland on some, and she was leaving me off.  And

 03  at the end, when she was requesting things, because it

 04  was going through all of our team, it was getting

 05  extremely confusing, because one day it would be:  Let's

 06  do it this way; the next day -- and I could not get a

 07  clear answer, at the end, on where anything should go.

 08                    So, I can vouch, firsthand that, right

 09  out of the gate, when she became the president, she

 10  asked for all of this to be able to do her job.  And we

 11  have no reason to keep anything from anybody.  If it was

 12  in our system and we had access to it, she had it.

 13                    MR. BENNETT:  So I do have a follow-up

 14  question for you, Miss Hatch.  Exhibit R-6, an e-mail

 15  from you to Mr. McPartland, dated January 13, 2023,

 16  where you give, kind of, a basic time line of events

 17  from, basically, date of termination through the end of

 18  the contract.  In that e-mail, you noted that, on

 19  April 18th, PMA provided Miss Harrison all copies of

 20  Cedar Lawn vendor contracts, replied and sent the same

 21  day.

 22                    My main question is:  We don't have

 23  any copies of either an e-mail to Miss Harrison

 24  regarding the vendor contracts, in the records.  So my

 25  main question would be:  Do you have documentation to
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 01  show that and do you have documentation to show that you

 02  had the vendor contracts.

 03                    MS. HATCH:  Everything that I had,

 04  that we have in our system, was delivered to

 05  Miss Harrison.  And it was over a span of over a year of

 06  delivering documents as requested.  So it's documenting

 07  that were delivered multiple times, the same document.

 08  Our team, our customer service was delivering them.

 09                    I know that we had a glitch with our

 10  e-mails there for a little while, which we got fixed

 11  with our IT company.  But everything, I mean, my e-mails

 12  are open for anything that you would like to view.  I

 13  don't have it in front of me to pull it up and present

 14  it; but everything she asked for, I would give it to

 15  her.  If I didn't have it, I would let her know we don't

 16  have that.

 17                    MR. BENNETT:  If Mr. Mulhare agreed to

 18  leave the record open for a certain period of time,

 19  Mr. McPartland, would you be able to provide that

 20  documentation?

 21                    MR. MC PARTLAND:  We can certainly go

 22  through it.

 23                    MR. BENNETT:  Mr. Mulhare, would you

 24  be willing to leave the record open for, say, seven

 25  days?
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 01                    MR. MULHARE:  Sure.

 02                    MR. BENNETT:  So we can leave the

 03  record open for a period of seven days, which would be

 04  until July 24, 2023, close of business that day, so five

 05  p.m.  You can send anything you have to my e-mail

 06  regarding that documentation of that April 15th e-mail,

 07  in reference to Miss Harrison, providing her with the

 08  vendor contracts, and copies of vendor contracts that

 09  you have, by that date.  And I will provide a copy to

 10  Mr. Mulhare and submit it into the record.

 11                    Similarly, this may be the same kind

 12  of answer but, in that same R-6 e-mail attached, you

 13  noted that, on June 2, 2022, PMA provided Miss Harrison

 14  a copy of all of the Cedar Lawn meeting minutes for

 15  the July 1, 2021; August 17, 2021; March 30, 2019 and

 16  June 14, 2018 meeting minutes.

 17                    MR. MULHARE:  I'm sorry, can you

 18  repeat those dates?

 19                    MR. BENNETT:  Yeah, no problem.  So

 20  July 1, 2021; August 17, 2021; March 30, 2019 and

 21  June 14, 2018.  And, again, I'm reading from what has

 22  been marked as Exhibit R-6 in our file.

 23                    Similar to the question I had before:

 24  We do not have any documentation of that e-mail

 25  communication on June 6th, from PMA to Miss Harrison nor
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 01  do we have any copies of those particular meeting

 02  minutes.  Is that something you would be able to provide

 03  or that you have at any point?

 04                    MR. MC PARTLAND:  I mean, I'll look

 05  through it, yeah.  If we have it, we'll send it.

 06                    MR. BENNETT:  Okay.  Likewise, since

 07  we're already leaving the reported for seven days, that

 08  is something --

 09                    MR. MC PARTLAND:  The date of that

 10  e-mail was June 2nd?

 11                    MR. BENNETT:  Yes, so again, I'm

 12  reading from --

 13                    MR. MC PARTLAND:  Right, the one you

 14  referenced, R-6.

 15                    MR. BENNETT:  Yes, R-6.  And in her

 16  time line, it says -- I will read it exactly:  6/2/2022,

 17  so June 2nd.  So I guess, kind of, the basic overall

 18  question is:  Outside of, kind of, what I have already

 19  asked about, are you representing that all of the

 20  information that we currently have in the record, R-6

 21  through R-84, is what you had on file for this unit

 22  association?

 23                    MR. MC PARTLAND:  So I provided

 24  Miss Doody, I provided her the exact copy of what we

 25  provided to the new management company on the thumb
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 01  drive.  We also, we tried sending it to her via

 02  Dropbox.  And I guess you guys had challenges with that.

 03  And there was -- I don't know if I'm getting ahead of

 04  you -- the request for the e-mail when we sent that.

 05                    But, just like I don't have the e-mail

 06  to Miss Doody, when you do the Dropbox share, you

 07  actually go on the web to your Dropbox file.  And you

 08  put their e-mail address and click:  Share.  And they

 09  send an e-mail.  You don't get a copy of it.  So I don't

 10  have that.  I didn't do it out of Outlook or something,

 11  here's the link.  They send a secure link where that

 12  person has to validate and everything else.  So there

 13  isn't an e-mail, so to speak, that says:  Here it is.

 14                    MR. BENNETT:  I know this is kind of

 15  covering Count 2, but I will follow up with that:  Does

 16  Dropbox -- we don't use Dropbox, as you noted; but does

 17  Dropbox have any sort, kind of, verification system

 18  where, like, it sends you a copy of what it sends out?

 19  So, like, you know, you plug in the information, you

 20  send out a link saying:  Send access to this e-mail.

 21  Does Dropbox also send you a copy of your e-mail saying:

 22  We provided access.

 23                    MR. MC PARTLAND:  Once you share it, I

 24  mean, they may have it in a, like, a premium service or

 25  something, but I'm using it at the base level.  It's
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 01  expensive as it is.  And it's, like:  Hey, if people

 02  want to access it immediately and not get a thumb drive,

 03  they're worried about viruses or whatever, we offer that

 04  as an option and put it in Dropbox and share it with

 05  you.  It's up to you to go download it.

 06                    Once you validate that you share, you

 07  go in and you take -- I have one community that, they're

 08  still leaving the files on there.  I'm trying to get

 09  them to take them off, because they're still using it as

 10  their share drive.  And it's like:  No, I don't want to

 11  shut that down.  I'm, like:  You're paying for it.

 12                    But, basically, once you go in and you

 13  access the files, you can pull down what you want or

 14  what you want.  It's up to you.  I'm not going to find a

 15  way to audit that to see what they have or they

 16  haven't, so . . .

 17                    And it's not like an archive file.

 18  It's, you put it up there, take it off and then you shut

 19  it down, so . . .

 20                    MR. BENNETT:  Is there a way to view

 21  who's accessed it?

 22                    MR. MC PARTLAND:  Yeah, probably; but

 23  unfortunately, once we're done with it, it's a monthly

 24  charge.  We take it down, and then the record is gone.

 25                    MR. BENNETT:  And, like I said, we'll
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 01  kind of cover more of the Dropbox when we get to

 02  Count 2.

 03                    MR. MC PARTLAND:  Sure.

 04                    MR. BENNETT:  But since you brought it

 05  up, I wanted to ask about it.

 06                    In Exhibit R-73, this is an e-mail

 07  dated June 16, 2022.  Mr. McPartland sent Miss Hatch,

 08  copying Miss Harrison and Cedar Lawn, stating that:  We

 09  received your request for files from Dodson Management.

 10  And the requested files have been provided to them.  As

 11  per standard operating procedure, we will provide the

 12  files to the management company.

 13                    So my main question was:  I believe

 14  earlier, when you were talking about, and you mentioned

 15  that you had e-mailed documents, copies of the documents

 16  or provide them a Dropbox.  So my main question is:  On

 17  that date, June 16, 2022, how -- by then, how had you

 18  provided the documents to Dodson?

 19                    MR. MC PARTLAND:  We provided them

 20  with -- and I think they represented the critical

 21  documents they needed right then, to be able to move

 22  forward on our listing, that kind of stuff, financials,

 23  things like that.  I don't remember the whole list.

 24                    And the rest, we said -- it was too

 25  big to e-mail, so we'll put in on the drive, along with
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 01  whatever paper files we have here, ready for you to pick

 02  up.  And they agreed.

 03                    MR. MC PARTLAND:  Okay.

 04                    MR. MC PARTLAND:  I think the fellow's

 05  name -- I don't know if he's still with them or not --

 06  the fellow's name is Pitts, or something like that.  And

 07  he said he comes down to Virginia Beach periodically

 08  because of family or something like that, so he wouldn't

 09  have a problem picking them up.

 10                    But then, like I said, several weeks

 11  later, we discovered that no one came out for them.

 12                    MR. BENNETT:  Okay.  And, in Exhibit

 13  R-1, you had stated to Investigator Doody that

 14  ultimately, since they hadn't picked it up, you mailed

 15  it to them?

 16                    MR. MC PARTLAND:  Yes.

 17                    MR. BENNETT:  Do you remember, by any

 18  chance, when that was, the approximate date?

 19                    MR. MC PARTLAND:  I could go back to

 20  the record and find it.  But, basically, what happened

 21  was -- so at that point, it was right after that the

 22  phone conversation, basically, when we said we would

 23  mail it.  And this was kind of a little bit of a foo-pah

 24  on our staff's fault.  I expected them to FedEx it.  And

 25  it was just put in a regular U.S. Postal.  So I didn't
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 01  have a tracking on that.

 02                    But, again, we never heard anything

 03  from them, so we assumed it was delivered and they got

 04  it.  I would have expected they would have called and

 05  said:  Hey, we never got that.

 06                    MR. BENNETT:  Okay.  So, for

 07  reference, Exhibit I-6 is the collection of e-mails

 08  between Investigator Doody; Duke Dodson, of Dodson

 09  Management and Billy Omohundro.  Evernest, apparently

 10  Evernest took over management of Cedar Lawn some time

 11  after Dodson did.  And Mr. Omohundro stated that they

 12  received the documents on November 27, 2022.

 13                    So does that kind of give you an

 14  approximate idea of when you would have sent it to them?

 15                    MR. MC PARTLAND:  I mean, I think we

 16  had a conversation.  The one in November was after they

 17  didn't -- like, we sent it.  We thought they had it, and

 18  then we got a complaint.  And we're like:  Whoa, why are

 19  we getting this complaint?  So we re-sent it.  At that

 20  point, we sent it.

 21                    MR. BENNETT:  So you sent it a second

 22  time?

 23                    MR. MC PARTLAND:  Yes.  And, all of

 24  those folks you mentioned, never had any conversations

 25  with them, never had any correspondence with them,
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 01  personally.  I don't even know who they are.  The person

 02  I was working with was somebody else.

 03                    MR. BENNETT:  Okay.  So the person

 04  from Dodson that you --

 05                    MR. MC PARTLAND:  Initially started

 06  with.

 07                    MR. BENNETT:  Initially started with.

 08  Okay, different contacts?

 09                    MR. MC PARTLAND:  Correct.

 10                    MR. BENNETT:  Can you just kind of

 11  give me an overview of what PMA's standard recordkeeping

 12  practice is?

 13                    MR. MC PARTLAND:  Sure.  You know,

 14  obviously, anything we get, the managers are all

 15  instructed.  We have a filing protocol.  There's share

 16  drive, broken down by each association.  And within that

 17  are folders for minutes, meetings packages, insurance,

 18  the whole thing.

 19                    So everything that comes in is

 20  scanned.  If it's a paper, it's scanned.  If we have

 21  stuff in paper that we initially get, usually that stays

 22  in the file, and it's just turned over.  It's usually

 23  old stuff.  But anything new, we're pretty much

 24  paperless now.  We don't really generate paper.  It's

 25  saved by the filing protocol.  And that's a lot of
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 01  maintenance, because, you know, not everybody saves the

 02  names right.  So we push hard on that, making sure

 03  everything is in there.  And, within the category, we

 04  keep it by year.

 05                    If you go back on our financials, you

 06  can, literally, go in and see the financials; that it's

 07  every month; package dated, association acronym; what it

 08  is, year, month; date.  So it's chronological.  And that

 09  way, it's easy to look to see that you've got

 10  everything.

 11                    MR. BENNETT:  Okay.  And, kind of,

 12  similarly, can you just give a brief overview of your

 13  standard, kind, of turnover policy?  So, when you're

 14  exiting a community and a different management company

 15  is coming in, or even when there isn't a management

 16  company?

 17                    MR. MC PARTLAND:  So generally, always

 18  is, always has been a management company.  So this is an

 19  experience where it was kind of hybrid, because we had,

 20  sort of, a management company, but we're limited on what

 21  we can communicate and vice versa.

 22                    And then we're getting different

 23  direction from the Board, you know:  Is it going to the

 24  attorney, here, where?  So this is definitely the

 25  anomaly, right.  This is not how we ever do it.
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 01                    When we're taking over a community,

 02  the process is simple.  We put an information request

 03  in:  We need these documents within the next two weeks;

 04  we need these documents prior to turnover, and then

 05  these documents after turned over, like closeout stuff.

 06                    So we take that same approach when

 07  it's going out, but the management company is the lead

 08  on that.  So as far as, like, give us an information

 09  request.  What is it that you need, because what I need

 10  and what you need might be somewhat different; typically

 11  not.

 12                    So, like I said, Miss Harrison was

 13  asking what the process is, but when we told her what

 14  the process is, that didn't seem to be satisfactory.

 15  And she was saying:  I need this now, I need this now, I

 16  need this now; but it was everything.  And it was, like,

 17  financials from 2017 isn't really relevant right now.

 18  So let's get the things the things you need to get

 19  things going.  That will come over in the archive, at

 20  the end.  It's not like you would have somebody

 21  researching; it's just:  I need all the records.

 22                    And I think it was a lot of, like,

 23  this community -- first of all, we didn't get hardly any

 24  records when we took over.  There was really not, I mean

 25  literally, we got very little, not even a set of
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 01  financials.  It was, like, very weak.

 02                    And that was one of the reasons why

 03  the attorney had asked us to help out.  So we kind of

 04  jumped in and we were trying to get things going.

 05                    And we encouraged the Board to have

 06  meetings, minutes from meetings; take minutes and

 07  provide that.  And we had some success at some times.

 08  Then it would kind of fall off the radar.  We would find

 09  vendors on the property that they might have hired, had

 10  a meeting, whatever, we weren't part of.  We don't have

 11  a copy of the contract, because it's like:  We got the

 12  contract, we'll work it out, whatever.  And they're

 13  directing us to pay out this much a month, whatever.

 14  They're directing us to us pay this.  Sometimes a lot of

 15  it wasn't even by way of proposal with a signature on

 16  the bottom.  It's not even a contract.

 17                    So, you know, we were kind of flying

 18  blind.  There was times where there was, maybe, one

 19  Board member, hard to get ahold of.  So we're going with

 20  the best direction we have and working through the

 21  attorney to make sure we're on good footing and doing

 22  what we're supposed to be doing, the right thing.

 23                    And I'm going to step back to:

 24  Earlier, you mentioned about homeowner work order

 25  requests.  This is a homeowner's association.  The
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 01  majority of the things that somebody -- but they were

 02  viewing it as, like, a condo.  If you look at the

 03  documents, a lot of the things that people would say:

 04  You need to come fix this.  It's not the Association's

 05  responsibility.  We can't do it.  It would be spending

 06  money that we're not allowed to spend, so. . .

 07                    So we would get beaten up about things

 08  not being done, and it's not really part of the

 09  Association's responsibility; therefore, we would be

 10  overstepping.  We had to fight those battles a lot of

 11  times.  A lot of complaints from a small contingent of

 12  people from the Better Business Bureau, which is

 13  detrimental to our reputation; again, for things that

 14  aren't our responsibility.

 15                    And it got to the point where even the

 16  Better Business Bureau just said:  We're not even going

 17  to send these to you any more.  Sometimes they said:

 18  This is not even the scope.  We're just letting you know

 19  this came in.  You don't need to respond.

 20                    But that kind of stuff getting out on

 21  social media, really, you know, is harmful to our

 22  reputation.  And it makes us -- it hurts our ability to

 23  earn and keep people gainfully employed.

 24                    And, again, as you know, we're limited

 25  in what we can do at the Board.  We can't make decisions
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 01  and sign a contract and do that.  So we're doing the

 02  best we can with what we have.  And we strongly

 03  encourage everyone to do what they're supposed to do.

 04                    It got bad for the Board members,

 05  because they felt they were being overwhelmed as well.

 06  And most of them quit, which is what end up happening.

 07  At the end, they all just resigned.

 08                    MR. BENNETT:  So I guess, kind of, one

 09  follow-up question I have is:  You had said there

 10  weren't a lot of records.  The Cedar Lawn Board of

 11  Directors didn't meet much, didn't take minutes often.

 12  What written authority were you acting on, you know, for

 13  paying the vendors, for doing things like that, if there

 14  wasn't a record of it?

 15                    MR. MC PARTLAND:  I mean, there would

 16  have been, like, an e-mail from the Board saying the

 17  Board approved this, the president or whatever.  The

 18  vendor was in place already.

 19                    MR. BENNETT:  Okay.  But you didn't

 20  have a copy of that contract, or you didn't request it,

 21  or . . .

 22                    MR. MC PARTLAND:  We always request

 23  it, but we don't always get it.  Yeah, I'll send it to

 24  you, but you know.

 25                    MR. BENNETT:  Mr. Mulhare, do you have
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 01  any questions on Count 1?

 02                    MR. MULHARE:  We're going to have an

 03  opportunity to come back to this later, or after we hear

 04  the complaints?

 05                    MR. BENNETT:  If you want.

 06  Ultimately, however you want to do it.  It's your

 07  conference.

 08                    MR. MULHARE:  I would like to come

 09  back after I hear from the complaint.

 10                    But I just wanted to clarify a couple

 11  of things.  You mentioned June 17th.  You said the 17th,

 12  that bank access was denied.  I wanted to be specific on

 13  what that date was.

 14                    MR. MC PARTLAND:  It was somewhere

 15  around the middle of the month.  I would have to look to

 16  see exactly when.

 17                    MR. MULHARE:  Which month?

 18                    MR. MC PARTLAND:  June, the last

 19  month.  I'm sure there's an e-mail in here, but if not,

 20  I can go back to my records and tell you the exact date.

 21                    But I went in, and all of a sudden,

 22  it's like:  Why is this not there?  I reached out to the

 23  bank.  And they're like:  Yeah.  Your Board President

 24  came in and reached out to us, sent us a letter,

 25  verifying that they were the president for DPOR.  So we
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 01  had no choice but to remove your access.

 02                    MR. BENNETT:  To clarify, Mr. Mulhare,

 03  there are two e-mail chains in the record between

 04  Mr. McPartland and representatives of CIT bank, around

 05  June 30, 2022 and July 1, 2022, regarding bank access.

 06                    MR. MC PARTLAND:  Right.

 07                    MR. BENNETT:  One e-mail is from

 08  Mr. McPartland to a Michael Roche; R-o-c-h-e and a

 09  Lindsay Ehmann; E-h-m-a-n-n, of CIT Bank.  He requests,

 10  basically, statements.  And he was actually denied

 11  access.  It's the same thing it says here, and was

 12  denied access, and was request an update.

 13                    MR MULHARE:  Tell me these dates

 14  again, please.

 15                    MR. BENNETT:  So it looks like the

 16  first one I have is June 30, 2022.  And then there was a

 17  follow up to the next day, July 1.

 18                    MR. MC PARTLAND:  The initial

 19  conversations were via phone.  I called them originally

 20  and made them aware of it.  And they had to go find

 21  information.  And then they called me back and said:

 22  Here's what's going on.  And, at that point, I was

 23  trying to scramble to figure out what we could do to get

 24  this thing closed.

 25                    And then, basically, that is e-mails
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 01  from me, following back up to find out -- can you get me

 02  back statement or something, so I can do my re-cons. I

 03  just want to know what cleared, what didn't clear, where

 04  are we on this, because I had no idea.  Things were

 05  bouncing, my check bounced.

 06                    So I'm sure we were getting calls from

 07  accounting, like:  What's going on?  I don't think there

 08  were a whole lot of checks, but there were a few.

 09                    MR. MULHARE:  Did Cedar Lawn

 10  Association actually authorize you to surrender and

 11  deliver documents to Dodson or anyone else?

 12                    MR. MC PARTLAND:  It was, like:  Call

 13  the management company, or --

 14                    MR. MULHARE:  I understand that.

 15  You've said that Dodson contacted you.

 16                    MR. MC PARTLAND:  Right.  Right.

 17                    MR. MULHARE:  My question is:  Did the

 18  Association authorize you to communicate with Dodson?

 19                    MR. MC PARTLAND:  Vicki, what did she

 20  say?

 21                    MS. HATCH:  So towards the end, to be

 22  honest, there was so much confusion, I don't think

 23  either one of us can answer that question, for the sheer

 24  fact that the direction was all over the place.  So I --

 25  we would have to go back and look at that.  That was a
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 01  year ago.

 02                    MR. MULHARE:  Okay.

 03                    MS. HATCH:  There was no direction.

 04  There was nothing consistent.  So we were doing the very

 05  best that we could under the direction, because our

 06  role -- my role, as the Association Manager, is

 07  to -- I'm under the direction of the Board.  And when

 08  the direction is -- it would come across very clear, but

 09  it was never consistent.  It would change:  Well we're

 10  unsure, or it might go to the lawyer, or we're looking

 11  into this management company.

 12                    So, to be very honest with you,

 13  because of all directions, it was challenging to keep up

 14  with all the requests.

 15                    MR. MC PARTLAND:  We just wanted to

 16  get the records to whoever needed them, so that they can

 17  continue to do business for the Association.

 18                    MR. MULHARE:  I understand that.

 19                    MR. MC PARTLAND:  Interestingly

 20  enough, when Miss Harrison was -- I guess the Board

 21  members were seeking another management company.  You

 22  know, for all that's going on, she turned around at one

 23  point and said:  Well we're not having a lot of luck

 24  finding somebody, so you'll just have to stay on for a

 25  month or two.
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 01                    And my response to that was:  You

 02  know, absolutely not.  I gave you ninety days.  We have

 03  plans for our resources and what we need to do.  I can't

 04  just extend that term.

 05                    MR. MULHARE:  There is nothing in the

 06  file, I believe, that indicates that.  Do you have

 07  something that indicates that?

 08                    MR. MC PARTLAND:  I will have to

 09  check.

 10                    MR. MULHARE:  So a lot of what I have

 11  listened to was laying the ground for the reason why you

 12  wanted to terminate the relationship with Cedar lawn.

 13                    What I'm focussing on is Count 1.  And

 14  Count 1 is the contract obligation to provide the books

 15  and records of the association within thirty days of

 16  giving notice from the Association or contract

 17  termination.

 18                    I believe the record indicates that

 19  Cedar Lawn asked for the books and records from the

 20  Association on June 7.

 21                    MR. MC PARTLAND:  They actually asked

 22  for them on April 3rd, April 4th, April 5th; every day.

 23  And we were providing them all along.

 24                    MR. MULHARE:  I'm looking at the

 25  e-mail and records.
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 01                    MR. MC PARTLAND:  I understand.

 02                    MR. MULHARE:  So to me, that triggers

 03  a delivery date of June 7, 2022.  So, that's kind of

 04  were my focus is.  Whether it's in the month of July, or

 05  something like that, might be extenuating circumstances,

 06  I can say the thirty days was July 7th.  And would you

 07  agree with that?

 08                    MR. MC PARTLAND:  I mean, our contract

 09  says thirty days after termination, at least, which

 10  allows us to close the books and do everything else.

 11                    MR. MULHARE:  No, I don't believe

 12  that's what it says.

 13                    MR. MC PARTLAND:  Is that my contract

 14  or was that the proposal?

 15  

 16                    MR. BENNETT:  So to clarify, the

 17  regulation states:  Failing to provide complete records

 18  of Property Management Services to the Association

 19  within thirty days of any written request by the

 20  Association, or within thirty days of the termination of

 21  the contract, unless otherwise agreed to in writing by

 22  both the Association and Common Interest Management.

 23                    MS. HATCH:  Can I ask a question?

 24                    MR. BENNETT:  Yes.

 25                    MS. HATCH:  So because I was, let's
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 01  say "boots on the ground" in this situation, I know that

 02  I had -- everything that I had access to, over the

 03  course of a year, was presented.  So there wasn't

 04  anything additional to present, because Miss Harrison

 05  had everything I had access to.

 06                    So when you do terminate a contract,

 07  you've provided it.  They have it.  Isn't that

 08  satisfied, because they already have everything that you

 09  have.  We have no reason to keep anything from any of

 10  the Board.  We have no gain or any reason to keep

 11  anything from anybody.

 12                    I just -- I can't express the multiple

 13  requests, the multiple faxes.  It is was extremely time

 14  consuming.  And the e-mails were not bullets.  The

 15  e-mails were books.  They were novels requesting things,

 16  often daily, multiples.  It was very challenging to keep

 17  up, as well as servicing our other clients.  So I can

 18  speak one hundred percent:  If I had it, she had it.

 19                    MR. MULHARE:  So that's what I'm

 20  addressing, the contract.  It says that:  We'll

 21  surrender and/or deliver to the Board of Directors or

 22  its designee.  And I will just paraphrase:  Books and

 23  records of the Association.  So that's why I was

 24  asking --

 25                    MR. MC PARTLAND:  Yes.
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 01                    MR. MULHARE:  -- if you were actually

 02  authorized to communicate with Dodson.

 03                    MR. MC PARTLAND:  I mean, I believe

 04  there was a point where she told us to stop talking to

 05  them.

 06                    We'll go back and look for that again.

 07                    MR. WILLIAMS:  Again, were keeping the

 08  record open.  You can respond to that.  And we'll take a

 09  look at that.

 10                    MR. MULHARE:  The only thing I have in

 11  the record is your direction to either provide it to the

 12  Association or to its attorney, which was to be

 13  determined.

 14                    MR. MC PARTLAND:  Right, which we

 15  never got that communication, not to my knowledge.

 16                    It was, like, there would be something

 17  left open; but then it was never followed back up:

 18  Here's what we're going to do.  So we're kind of left --

 19  and the next day it's like:  Well you could have

 20  e-mailed us.  Then there's an old saying:  Well, we

 21  don't do electronics, so we want paper.  You have to

 22  bring them here.

 23                    And it was sort of like, you know,

 24  whatever the whim of the day was or whether you wanted

 25  to make us jump through more hoops, I'm not sure.  It's
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 01  just -- it's not the way you do business, you know.

 02  And, like I said, it's normally just a real quick, easy

 03  handoff.  And we were hindered by the actions that the

 04  Board took, as far as shutting down our access to be

 05  able do our job, and all the time we spent trying to

 06  unravel that, and that to be able to go out and close

 07  the books and make sure we were comfortable that they

 08  are as accurate as we can make they can, without having

 09  control of the funds and access to the records.

 10                    So we do finally get -- CIT was able

 11  to provide us with the bank statements, so at least we

 12  could reconcile, but that took a while.

 13                    You know, something that's very simple

 14  and easy, somebody made an appeal intentionally hard,

 15  for whatever motive.  I can't speculate; but certainly,

 16  if they really wanted the Association's best interests

 17  at heart, they would have let us do our job.  And none

 18  of us would be sitting here over a year later, and we're

 19  still talking about it.  It's extremely frustrating.

 20                    MS. HATCH:  I will say, the documents

 21  that they received after our termination was a wealth of

 22  information to what we received.  We gave well more,

 23  everything that we had, than what was presented to us.

 24                    MR. MULHARE:  That's not really

 25  relevant.
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 01                    MR. MC PARTLAND:  Yeah, it's not

 02  relevant.

 03                    MR. BENNETT:  So, kind of, to

 04  piggyback on Mr. Mulhare's question about the

 05  authorization to provide information to Dodson:  When

 06  you referenced in our June 16th e-mail that you received

 07  a request from Dodson, for the files, was that an e-mail

 08  request, letter request or just a phone request.

 09                    MR. MC PARTLAND:  I would have to

 10  look.

 11                    MR. BENNETT:  Again, since we've left

 12  the record open, that's something that, if you don't

 13  have it now, that's fine.  You can submit it by that

 14  July 24th deadline, but I just wanted to ask.

 15                    MR. MC PARTLAND:  I will find it, but

 16  I think there was something in here I saw that was one

 17  of the things, the answers where you said:  I didn't see

 18  that in the record.  And I kind of remember seeing it in

 19  here; but if I don't find it in here, I will make sure

 20  you have it.

 21                    And, believe me, if it isn't here, you

 22  didn't see it, because this two and a half phone books

 23  here, so . . .  For those of us who remember phone

 24  books.  A lot of paper.

 25                    MR. BENNETT:  Did you have any other
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 01  questions on Count 1?

 02                    MR. MULHARE:  I will reserve.  No

 03  questions.

 04                    MR. BENNETT:  Okay.  Let me just go

 05  through my notes real quick.  I don't think I have any

 06  other questions on Count 1.  All right.  So we can go

 07  ahead and move to Count 2 of the Revised Report of

 08  Findings, alleging that PMA failed to respond to the

 09  inquiry of the Board within 21 days.

 10                    Mr. McPartland, what would you like to

 11  say regarding Count 2?

 12                    MR. MC PARTLAND:  Do you mean

 13  Miss Doody's inquiry?  Again, I did respond.  And I gave

 14  here our detailed thing here.  And I answered her

 15  questions back and forth.

 16                    Are you referring to the end, after

 17  February 3rd, or are you referring to --

 18                    MR. BENNETT:  Yes.  So, as noted in

 19  the Revised Report of Findings, you know, ultimately,

 20  there was back and forth starting in January, on

 21  January 24th, when Miss Doody sent a request to you.

 22  And then you had provided the documents that I noted

 23  earlier; R-6 through R- 84; but ultimately, the last

 24  that she heard from you was on February 3, 2023.

 25                    But then she made a request on
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 01  February 8, 2023; February 14, 2023; February 24, 2023

 02  with a deadline to respond by February 27th.

 03                    MR. MC PARTLAND:  Right.

 04                    MR. BENNETT:  Specifically, by that

 05  point, what she was looking for is what we discussed

 06  earlier, the e-mails, the Dropbox information; but also,

 07  Miss Doody requested you to respond by February 7, 2023,

 08  to provide a time for you to sit down and do a phone

 09  interview with her.

 10                    Later, on March 3rd, March 6th and

 11  March 7th.  As noted in the Revised Report of Findings,

 12  Miss Doody did not hear anything from you following

 13  February 3, 2023.

 14                    MR. MC PARTLAND:  So that was about

 15  the time when we were migrating our server to the cloud.

 16  And we were having syncing issues.  I did not get those

 17  e-mails until -- I actually, when I got your invitation

 18  to today's hearing, I went back to my IT.  We do have

 19  them.  They were in the server.  They were in a, kind of

 20  a black hole from the merger -- I mean from the upload.

 21  And I'm still having syncing issues with them.  And

 22  we're trying to get it resolved.

 23                    So I'll search for an e-mail, and I'll

 24  have, maybe, three from somebody; but then if you go

 25  somewhere else, you can see there's more.  So that when
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 01  we kind of uncovered that, and we're internally dealing

 02  with it.  But I didn't see them at the time.  I

 03  certainly would have responded.  And I apologize that I

 04  didn't see them and that we had some technical

 05  difficulties.

 06                    But it wasn't only her e-mails.  It

 07  was an bunch of e-mails.  And I had to, kind of, go back

 08  and talk to them.  And we discovered there was a whole

 09  bunch of stuff that didn't get migrated over.

 10                    So I apologize or that.  I can't undo

 11  that.  Certainly, obviously, that that's not a good

 12  thing, because I have always responded when you guys

 13  have reached out, any time that you needed me for

 14  anything.  So it just was unfortunate that, at the time,

 15  that that had happened.

 16                    And, like I said, when I got your

 17  invitation, I went to IT.  And we found those five or

 18  six e-mails sitting there.

 19                    MR. BENNETT:  Okay.  So I think, one

 20  question that I would have as a follow-up question is:

 21  Can you provide any sort of documentation regarding this

 22  e-mail migration issue?  I would note that Miss Doody,

 23  in Exhibit I-4, these are all the e-mails between

 24  Miss Doody and yourself.  And they're all sent to the

 25  same e-mail:  John@pma.com.  So if you can provide any
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 01  sort of documentation from your IT department or

 02  whoever, showing that there was this migration issue.

 03  And, just for clarification, you said, during the

 04  migration, moving from Outlook to something else, or

 05  G-mail to Outlook, or something like that?

 06                    MR. MC PARTLAND:  No.  We went to the

 07  cloud.  So we had in-house servers.  And we changed to

 08  go to Azure.  It's Microsoft.

 09                    MR. BENNETT:  Okay.

 10                    MR. MC PARTLAND:  So we have virtual

 11  servers now.

 12                    MR. BENNETT:  And what was the date of

 13  that change?

 14                    MR. MC PARTLAND:  It was in February.

 15  So it started the beginning of February.

 16                    MR. WILLIAMS:  Let me ask a different

 17  follow-up question.  So, as Mr. Bennett noted, on

 18  January 30th of this year, Miss Doody e-mailed you,

 19  requesting those specific documents.  And the record

 20  reflects that you replied on February 3rd. So it appears

 21  you did get the January 30th?

 22                    MR. MC PARTLAND:  Yes.

 23                    MR. WILLIAMS:  You replied, stating

 24  that you would circle back and get a response on those

 25  two items.
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 01                    MR. MC PARTLAND:  Yes.  And, just,

 02  with all that was going on, it wasn't in front of me.

 03  So I talked to Vicki.  She was going to get those.  And

 04  I just thought it was taken care of, you know.

 05                    MR. WILLIAMS:  Just to try to use

 06  other words:  You don't deny Count 2; you just think

 07  they're extenuating circumstances?

 08                    MR. MC PARTLAND:  I'm sorry?

 09                    MR. WILLIAMS:  You don't deny Count 2,

 10  but there are extenuating circumstances.  And, as you

 11  look back at those records that Mr. Bennett asked you to

 12  check on, I think that's the focus, is you left it with

 13  the Investigator, that you would get in contact with

 14  her.

 15                    MR. MC PARTLAND:  Yes.

 16                    MR. WILLIAMS:  You failed to do that,

 17  and then you failed to respond to her e-mails.

 18                    So the extenuating circumstances, I

 19  believe are, her e-mails were in the trash or something,

 20  but you didn't see them until you saw them later.  But I

 21  just want to make sure I'm correct on this.  So it was

 22  on you to contact her --

 23                    MR. WILLIAMS: -- on your transmission

 24  on February 3rd, and you failed to do that?

 25                    MR. MC PARTLAND:  Correct.
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 01                    MR. BENNETT:  And I think, kind of, we

 02  discussed the Dropbox e-mail link earlier; but just to

 03  kind of circle back to that a little bit:  Is there -- I

 04  think I even asked this earlier, but just to clarify

 05  again:  Is there any way to verify, via Dropbox, that

 06  Dropbox link was sent out?  Is there any way for you to

 07  see, either in your Dropbox, Dropbox account, or

 08  something like that, to be able to see that Dropbox did

 09  in fact send this e-mail out?

 10                    MR. MC PARTLAND:  I have not been able

 11  to find it.  I can reach out to the support and ask

 12  them.  Again, with a basic account, you don't get a lot

 13  of frills.

 14                    MR. BENNETT:  Okay.  And it may be --

 15  I don't want to step on Mr. Mulhare's toes here, but it

 16  may be helpful if you could provide, kind of -- we're

 17  not familiar with Dropbox.  I don't know if Mr. Mulhare

 18  is, and I don't know if the rest of the Board is; but it

 19  may be helpful to provide him information from Dropbox

 20  stating:  This is what you get with the basic account,

 21  something like that, so that we have something for the

 22  record, showing that.

 23                    MR. MULHARE:  Was there any particular

 24  reason to withhold that information from the

 25  Association?
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 01                    MR. MC PARTLAND:  Not at all.  Not at

 02  all.  I mean, we don't want it.  We would never withhold

 03  information.  There's no reason to.

 04                    MR. MULHARE:  I would like to come

 05  back to Count 1 later.

 06                    MR. BENNETT:  Okay.  I do not have any

 07  other questions on Count 2.

 08                    Mr. McPartland, before we hear from

 09  the complainant, do you have anything you would you like

 10  to say before we take statements from the complainant?

 11                    MR. MC PARTLAND:  Just -- you know, I

 12  appreciate your consideration on this.  Like I said, we

 13  have put an awful lot of time and effort into our

 14  business as a whole; but also in working with Cedar

 15  lawn.  And, you know, when it gets challenging like

 16  this, we still always try to do the right thing, always

 17  try to, you know, follow our best business practices.

 18                    Sometimes that can be challenging,

 19  when somebody wants to do it off the beaten path, their

 20  way, in trying to manage that, along with running your

 21  business and taking care of all your clients.

 22                    So we try to be consistent.  We treat

 23  everybody the same.  We like to use the same processes

 24  for all our communities, whether it's just normal

 25  regular business or transitioning in/transitioning out,
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 01  to be consistent, because we know these processes are

 02  best practices, and they work.

 03                    When somebody is insistent on doing it

 04  a different way, it can make it, almost extremely

 05  difficult to make sure you have everything to them, to

 06  the point where we -- I think we overcompensated.  And

 07  we have given them more, multiple kinds of stuff.  So

 08  when somebody says:  You didn't respond to this, but I

 09  know that my associate did, or we know that it was in

 10  the Board packet and they have these records already,

 11  you know, how many times do we have to give it?  And

 12  when they get it, they just say they didn't get it.

 13  It's like:  Okay, now I have to do it again.

 14                    So we're trying to do the best we can.

 15  And it's unfortunate.  I like the community.  I think

 16  Miss Harrison is a very nice person.  I have never had

 17  any ill will or any, really, cross words with her.  I

 18  said very few words with her.  I'm not sure where all

 19  this is coming from, as far as the multitude of issues

 20  and complaints that eat up our time over the years; but

 21  like I said, we went through all those different things,

 22  snapped to them, jumped through all the hoops we had do.

 23  And each time, we found that we acted properly.  I'm not

 24  saying we're perfect.

 25                    And, clearly here, there's probably
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 01  some things we could have done a little better, more

 02  diligent with the IT migration.  And different things

 03  where, obviously, some things slipped through the

 04  cracks.  We were all extremely busy.  And someone -- as

 05  the owner of the company, you can imagine how many

 06  e-mails one would get.  It could be challenging to get

 07  to them all.

 08                    So expectations, a lot of times -- you

 09  didn't answer it within an hour.  It's, like, you're

 10  failing us.  And, at some point, you go:  I only can do

 11  what I can do.

 12                    So I appreciate the Board's

 13  consideration in considering all the facts that, again,

 14  we've been in business for eighteen years, very

 15  successfully, as far as, you know, you don't see me here

 16  very often at all.  Our goal is to do things the right

 17  way and be supportive of the Board and CIC and

 18  education.  I'm big on education.  I do Board 101s for

 19  my Boards all the time.  I speak at CAI many times.  I

 20  have done Board basic trainings for CAI.

 21                    We put all our people through

 22  education.  I support and pay for all the training.  I

 23  pay for the certifications, because I believe it's

 24  critical that we are professionals and we do it the

 25  right away.  It can be challenging at times, but we
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 01  always try to do the right thing.

 02                    So I hope that you guys consider that,

 03  that this a rarity for us, in your determination on what

 04  you decide to do on these counts.

 05                    MR. BENNETT:  Okay.  And, at this

 06  point, we will take statements from the complainant,

 07  Miss Harrison.  At this time, I would ask if you have

 08  any statements regarding the Revised Report of Findings.

 09  I will ask that you keep your statements within the

 10  allegations contained in that document.

 11                    So, Miss Harrison, you can go ahead.

 12                    MS. HARRISON:  Good afternoon.  I

 13  would like to present a statement of the impact that

 14  this situation has had on our community; but also, I

 15  have been listening to information on the two counts.

 16  And there's a lot of misstatements that, if possible, I

 17  would like to address and clear up.  And that is based

 18  on documents that already have been presented to you

 19  guys.  But there's a lot of misstatements and untruth

 20  that has been presented.

 21                    If it's possible, I would like to

 22  address those.

 23                    MR. MULHARE:  Okay.

 24                    MS. HARRISON:  First of all, I think

 25  what has precipitated a lot of these things is an
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 01  adversarial relationship.  And it was because that I

 02  have been very proactive in the law, in the Virginia

 03  Property Owners Act, and their responsibility.

 04                    There was a lot of e-mails towards the

 05  end.  There was a lot of e-mails because, behind me is

 06  four large binders of over two hundred requests for

 07  records, over forty years, that not once was it ever

 08  acknowledged, not one was ever responded to.

 09                    So we were in a panic towards the end

 10  of our termination, because we knew we were not going to

 11  get documents, because we have a history of not getting

 12  documents.

 13                    Mr. McPartland talked about Heather

 14  Gillespie, saying that they were possibly looking at a

 15  cease and desist letter.

 16                    MR. WILLIAMS:  I don't think that's

 17  relevant to the Count here.  We don't have anything

 18  about statements from Miss Gillespie.

 19                    MS. HARRISON:  Well I just assumed

 20  they were in there.

 21                    MR. WILLIAMS:  And I understand that

 22  there might be some dissymmetry here.  The respondent is

 23  free to bring up information outside of the allegations

 24  in response, but because we have to provide the

 25  respondent notice of what the allegations are, even if
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 01  they raised material that isn't directly related to the

 02  concerns regarding provision of records, we have to ask

 03  that you do.

 04                    MS. HARRISON:  Okay.  All right.

 05                    So I will keep my response

 06  regarding -- I think, one of the more important things

 07  about CIT and the bank records.

 08                    We gave Mr. McPartland many notices to

 09  not pay any bills, because we were ending our

 10  relationship without approval of the HOA Board.  That

 11  also included him, because we saw some irregularities.

 12  He decided he was not going to do that.  And he was

 13  paying bills.  And one of the vendors that he paid

 14  definitely had irregularities.

 15                    And the Board and I got with the CIT,

 16  and we asked them to freeze the account.  And whenever

 17  something came through, it was not that it cannot be

 18  paid, but it has to come to us for Board approval.  And

 19  that was done on two occasions, and we gave approval.

 20  One of them or was for insurance.

 21                    Mr. McPartland still presented his

 22  last month's payment, and he was paid, even though he

 23  said he had not been paid.

 24                    Also, the one thing that we did look

 25  at also was in the banking account, itself.  We saw that
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 01  there were so many irregularities that did not match the

 02  financial records.

 03                    MR. WILLIAMS:  It's just, we don't

 04  have an allegation here regarding any financial

 05  irregularities.  We have an allegation regarding records

 06  production.  I understand, but we need to focus on the

 07  counts.

 08                    MS. HARRISON:  Okay.  I think, seeing

 09  that I can't address things that have been said that are

 10  untruthful, I think it would probably be best for me,

 11  just to make the impact.  And if the impact statement

 12  regarding these records, within the four corners of your

 13  document that you have before you.

 14                    Good afternoon, I will limit my

 15  discussion to the finding regarding records.  I would

 16  like to briefly expound on the finding regarding the

 17  refusal of the release of records.

 18                    This action is much, much more than

 19  administrative failure, but a catastrophic willful

 20  action that has forever changed our community.

 21                    Our community is not large.  It

 22  consists of 41 town homes on two small streets.  Most of

 23  our homeowners are retired and disabled, disabled

 24  veterans and limited incomes of the lower to middle

 25  class hard-working homeowners.
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 01                    As I briefly explain the community's

 02  impact on the failure to provide access to our records,

 03  it will be clear that this was a calculated action to

 04  enrich others connected with property management

 05  associates.  Due to the fact that I and other Board

 06  members have been consistently threatened with a civil

 07  lawsuit for defamation, I must make the statement:  This

 08  is my opinion, and you should draw your own conclusions

 09  from this information.

 10                    Property Management Associates has

 11  refused to hold a Board election four years.  And,

 12  somehow, they found a way to appoint an absentee Board.

 13  That is related to our records and why we have no

 14  records.  That Board, being absentee, provided

 15  unprecedented access to PMA with no oversight.

 16                    Finally, after three years of refusal

 17  for a Board of directors election, election took place

 18  on March 31, 2022.  Property Management Associates

 19  received the proxy votes on March 28, 2022.  And it was

 20  clear that the winners of the homeowner's association

 21  election was going to seek immediate records from the

 22  HOA that had been denied for the last four years.

 23                    The same day that Property Management

 24  Associates got those proxy votes is the same day they

 25  terminated their contract.
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 01                    MR. MULHARE:  May I interrupt?

 02                    MS. HARRISON:  Yes.

 03                    MR. MULHARE:  I would like to -- I

 04  think we want to focus in on the allegation that the

 05  management company failed to provide complete records,

 06  related to Cedar Lawn's management services to Cedar

 07  Lawn, within thirty days of any written requests by

 08  Cedar Lawn or within thirty days of the termination of

 09  the contract.

 10                    MS. HARRISON:  Okay.  Prior to the 30

 11  days, we had been in contact with them constantly, to

 12  get records, because we had a history that, probably it

 13  was going to be difficult, they're not going to help us.

 14                    One of the issues we had earlier with

 15  requesting records is because we were trying to get

 16  another management company.  We would go for the

 17  proposal and, because we had no records, we could not

 18  get anybody to take us.  I think it's very clear to

 19  understand that Dodson/Evernest, is not "a management

 20  company."  We could not get one, because we could not

 21  get any records, none.

 22                    These people are our accounting

 23  management company.  The HOA is the one that gets the

 24  records and all of the things, the minutes, the records

 25  and all of those things for the HOA for the last four
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 01  years.  That was told to Property Management

 02  continuously, that Dodson was not responsible for the

 03  HOA insurance records, only the financial records.  You

 04  will find no kinds of authorization from the Board, to

 05  send them anything.

 06                    In an e-mail to Mr. McPartland, he

 07  responded he was not going to send it to us, he was

 08  going to send it to Dodson, because that was the

 09  industry standard, which he still never did.

 10                    But Dodson had nothing to do with the

 11  workings of the HOA, only the accounting, bank

 12  accounting firm issues of the HOA.  So we never got

 13  those records.

 14                    And, also, you will see in your

 15  records that it was imperative that we had the financial

 16  record of all homeowners, which we were denied, because

 17  we had $43,000 in delinquent funds that we had to have

 18  each homeowner's individual accounting records, to be

 19  able to collect.

 20                    We sent several e-mails.  And we sent

 21  faxes, because we were later told by one of their

 22  employees that our e-mail address was blocked.  And that

 23  is why the faxes started, but we did not receive

 24  anything.  We ended up having to write off $43,000 in

 25  delinquent accounts, because we could never get a record
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 01  from Mr. McPartland.

 02                    In addition, at one time,

 03  Mr. McPartland entered into an on-line service.  And

 04  when we couldn't get records from him directly, we went

 05  to the on-line service for the HOA records.  In his bio,

 06  it says you can get these records within twenty-four

 07  hours.  When he realized it was Cedar Lawn, he put a

 08  hold on our records.

 09                    MR. BENNETT:  And, Miss Harrison, I

 10  think this is a little outside of what the allegations

 11  are.  We don't have any information in our records

 12  regarding something like that, his on-line portal or his

 13  bio or anything like that.

 14                    MS. HARRISON:  I'm just saying, we

 15  couldn't get the records, even on-line.  We had an

 16  option for on-line

 17                    MR. BENNETT:  And I'm just saying, we

 18  don't have not anything in our records regarding their

 19  on-line access.

 20                    MR. MULHARE:  Ma'am, I'm interpreting

 21  what you're saying.  And what you're saying is that PMA

 22  had limited services?

 23                    MS. HARRISON:  No, the new company,

 24  not PMA.  PMA had full-range services.

 25                    MR. MULHARE:  Okay.  All right.  The

�0064

 01  new company was only an accounting company.  And they

 02  were notified they were not going to be involved in the

 03  workings of the HOA.

 04                    MR. MULHARE:   Okay.  My mistake.

 05                    MS. HARRISON:  So that had a

 06  tremendous impact.  And we had to write that off,

 07  because we never got records.  We could not get a full

 08  service management company, because we didn't have

 09  records.  We did not have records, as he stated, I

 10  believe in Section 1 about the insurance.  The insurance

 11  was paid for the general liability, but for two years,

 12  he had not paid insurance for the HOA Director.  And

 13  that was the insurance that was canceled.

 14                    There was no records for any real

 15  estate taxes being paid.  The city of Petersburg was

 16  getting ready to put a foreclosure on that property for

 17  four years of non-taxes being paid.

 18                    I, personally, went to the City and

 19  negotiated $10,000, down to $5,000.

 20                    MR. BENNETT:  Okay.  We don't have

 21  information regarding, you know, payments that were made

 22  or not made to the City of Petersburg.  What we have, as

 23  we specifically stated earlier, on Page 7, these are the

 24  documents that we have, in their findings that were

 25  provided; these are the documents that were not
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 01  provided.  We don't have any specifics regarding

 02  payments that were made or not made to the City of

 03  Petersburg.  And also, as Mr. Williams noted earlier, we

 04  don't have any allegations regarding improper use of

 05  funds or not paying a vendor or something like that.

 06                    MS. HARRISON:  I guess I would

 07  probably end by saying this:  We were desperate for

 08  records.  When I say "desperate," we were desperate.

 09                    We asked for more time.  We gave him

 10  more time to get records.  He said absolutely no.  We

 11  ended up not getting full service, because we had no

 12  records.  This is a historical type of behavior for the

 13  last four years.

 14                    And the HOA, the impact, we can't

 15  explain exactly how it has been.  That's a lot of money

 16  for us.  That's a lot of money.  And it has impacted us

 17  greatly.  And I would just ask for the agency to look

 18  and take into consideration, that the refusal to give

 19  records was not an administrative, overworked,

 20  overtired, dog ate the homework kind of excuse.  This

 21  was calculated, it was willful, it was intentional, it

 22  was angry.  And it impacted 41 homeowners, 41 families.

 23  And I ask you that you take that into consideration when

 24  you review and make a determination.

 25                    If you have any questions, I would be

�0066

 01  glad to answer them for you.

 02                    MR. BENNETT:  Okay.  At this point, I

 03  would ask Mr. McPartland.  You may respond to anything

 04  Miss Harrison has stated.

 05                    And I believe, Mr. Mulhare, in

 06  reviewing the file, Mr. Mulhare, are you ready to hear

 07  from Mr. McPartland?

 08                    MR. MULHARE:  Can I have two minutes?

 09                    MR. BENNETT:  Sure.  It should be page

 10  Page 13.

 11                    MR. MULHARE:  May I ask a question?

 12                    MR. BENNETT:  Sure.  Go ahead.

 13                    MR. MULHARE:  You stated, I see in an

 14  e-mail here, you were alleging that the Management

 15  company's responsibility was to deliver your files.

 16                    MS. HARRISON:  Yes, sir.

 17                    MR. MULHARE:  And that's the nature of

 18  your complaint, is that the files were not delivered to

 19  the association?

 20                    MS. HARRISON:  Not only delivered.

 21  When we attempted to get files to make the transition,

 22  they also were not provided for us, delivered or

 23  anything, not only just the thirty days.  But we needed

 24  the files to make a transition to a new company.  And

 25  the new company would not touch us without those files.

�0067

 01                    MR. MULHARE:  Right.  I just see a

 02  repetitive theme here about the files not being

 03  delivered.

 04                    MS. HARRISON:  Right.  The contract

 05  said that the files must be delivered.

 06                    MR. MULHARE:  So, reading from a

 07  section from your contract, it says:  Will surrender

 08  and/or deliver to the Board of Directors or its

 09  designee.

 10                    MS. HARRISON:  But they never

 11  surrendered them either.  They never provided a Dropbox

 12  for it.

 13                    MR. MULHARE:  I'm trying to get to the

 14  nuances of surrender and/or deliver.  So then can say:

 15  We will surrender and deliver.

 16                    Another way to read it is:  Will

 17  surrender or deliver.  And it seems to be your complaint

 18  is that they were not delivered; is that correct?

 19                    MS. HARRISON:  Well no, sir, not just

 20  delivered, because they promised a Dropbox, which would

 21  have also surrendered them to us; in effect,

 22  electronically delivering them, but they never did that

 23  either.

 24                    MR. MULHARE:  Right.  Am I correct,

 25  though, in looking at the files, that they represented
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 01  that they had several boxes of files for the Association

 02  or its designee to pick up.  And that was the bone of

 03  contention, picking up the files, as opposed to having

 04  them delivered?

 05                    MS. HARRISON:  Not necessarily,

 06  because they sent an e-mail and wanted us to respond

 07  from Petersburg to Virginia Beach, within a couple of

 08  hours, before five o'clock, on a Friday.

 09                    There was no way that we could make it

 10  to Virginia Beach.  And, because of the contentious

 11  situation, we would have preferred to not go alone, but

 12  to make sure everybody is properly taken care of.  But

 13  it impossible to get there by five o'clock on a Friday,

 14  coming from Petersburg to Virginia Beach.

 15                    MR. MULHARE:  I understand.

 16                    MR. MC PARTLAND:  And then they

 17  offered the Dropbox, which they never provided.

 18                    MR. BENNETT:  Okay.  Mr. McPartland,

 19  you may respond to anything Miss Harrison has said; and

 20  then, Mr. Mulhare, if you have any other questions for

 21  Mr. McPartland, feel free to ask them.

 22                    Go ahead, Mr. McPartland.

 23                    MR. MC PARTLAND:  Thank you.

 24                    The last topic that was brought up, it

 25  is fresh in my mind.  It was said:  It will be available
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 01  any time after noon on that day, but it didn't have to

 02  be that day.  We have business hours from nine to five.

 03  You can come Monday, Tuesday -- any time you want.  We

 04  were letting you know the first available of that, and

 05  when our office closed.  You could have said:  I will be

 06  there Monday, what have you.  It wasn't a:  By Friday or

 07  we're throwing them out.  You kind of made that quantum

 08  leap yourself.  It certainly wasn't what we said.

 09                    So you also made a -- several times,

 10  comments that we outright refused to turn over records.

 11  You and I never spoke, really, about that.  And we have

 12  never refused.  We said all along, we'll give you the

 13  records.  We gave the records.

 14                    And we were providing records from

 15  April on, all along, with those numerous, numerous

 16  requests.  We provided all the records piecemeal, which

 17  is not the way we prefer to do it, but you had the

 18  records.  If it wasn't organized, it's because you

 19  didn't allow us to organize it.  So you didn't know what

 20  you had, but we provided the records, we provided the

 21  account statements.

 22                    We also, we're getting calls from

 23  homeowners.  Miss Harrison sent some sort of e-mail out

 24  to everybody, telling them to stop paying PMA, paying to

 25  the association through PMA, and to mail the payments
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 01  directly to her.  This created some concern from

 02  some homeowners.  We started getting calls about:

 03  What's going on?  We were not aware of that.  But we

 04  went ahead and sent all the homeowners their account

 05  statements, the full account histories, so they had a

 06  copy of it.  So, not only did we give it to the

 07  Association, the homeowners all had it as well.

 08                    So the statement that she needed to

 09  write off $40,000, to me is -- that was your choice.  No

 10  way you would never need to.  And again, you have the

 11  records.  And your financial company would have them as

 12  well.

 13                    You did not ever clarify to us

 14  Dodson's role, whether it was limited or not.  We were

 15  trying to even ascertain if they were.  They made a

 16  request, which I hesitate if yet they are.

 17                    So, there's a lot of things that -- I

 18  think you made suppositions that say:  This is like

 19  this.  It's undisputable.  And I argue that it's very

 20  disputable, that that's certainly not how it happened.

 21                    All I can say is:  Go ahead and do a

 22  full audit on anything you want, because there's nothing

 23  wrong with the financials.  I know it's not part of this

 24  thing.  But everything we've done, we did it based on

 25  either what was approved by the Board or within their
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 01  purview.

 02                    You made a comment about vendors,

 03  enriching vendors.  We didn't even know the majority of

 04  those vendors.  All the properties down there, we were

 05  going with the ones the Board were providing or you guys

 06  were providing, or that we could locate down there.  We

 07  certainly would never do anything like that.  There's no

 08  relationship with any of these vendors; in fact, a lot

 09  of them, we struggled to even want to work with them,

 10  because they were not wanting to give us insurance and

 11  things.  And when you had to keep going to the Board and

 12  saying:  Wait, we can't get Workers' Comp, we can't

 13  get -- we tried to do the right thing.

 14                    So I think that there's a lot of

 15  commenting there that I think, again, put out this cloud

 16  that tarnishes someone's reputation that, for over

 17  eighteen years, I have built a business on integrity and

 18  doing the things the right way, and that you can trust

 19  us.  And there's been no trust.  And I never did

 20  anything not to earn that trust.  So I think there's a

 21  communication issue, certainly.

 22                    And there's certainly a communication

 23  issue in the sense that, how you see how things should

 24  be and how you interpret things, versus how, maybe, the

 25  rest of us do.  And that's fine.  We're all entitled to
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 01  our opinions.  But when it impacts my company's

 02  reputation and my company's ability to be successful and

 03  to keep my employees employed so that they can provide

 04  for their families, I kind of take issue with a lot of

 05  the things that you said; but that's fine, because

 06  they're not true.

 07                    So we do provide account histories.

 08  Again, there wasn't good communication.  There was a lot

 09  of confusion, a lot of changing; do it this way, do it

 10  that way.

 11                    I think anyone reading the e-mails can

 12  see the animosity was coming in, but I don't think it

 13  was going out.  We always try to maintain the most

 14  professional demeanors we can, but e-mails that start

 15  off with-- read any one of them.  It's accusatory.

 16  It's, like, you're up to no good.

 17                    I realize that there's a long history

 18  with the Association, that I learned with things that

 19  happened in the past, unbeknownst to us, to do with us.

 20  And I understand that some of that may come that we're

 21  lumped in with that, but I don't think we ever gave

 22  anyone in our organization an opportunity to show you

 23  how good we are at what we do.

 24                    MR. MULHARE:  Mr. McPartland, I don't

 25  want to challenge your right --
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 01                    MR. MC PARTLAND:  Sure.

 02                    MR. MULHARE:  -- to confront the

 03  complaint.

 04                    MR. MC PARTLAND:  Okay.

 05                    MR. MULHARE:  We're really struggling

 06  with the straightforward issue on Count Number 1.

 07                    We're dealing with a very

 08  straightforward issue on Count Number 2.  I think we've

 09  agreed that Count Number 2 is correct.  And you would

 10  like us to consider extenuating circumstances.

 11                    MR. MC PARTLAND:  Right.

 12                    MR. MULHARE:  Count is also -- in my

 13  mind, I would to just try to simplify the issue:  Did

 14  you or did you not fully comply with turning over the

 15  books and records of the association within the

 16  contracted language, and within the State regulations

 17  time period?

 18                    MR. MC PARTLAND:  I believe we did, in

 19  the sense that any delays were beyond our control, based

 20  on actions that the Board took.

 21                    MR. MULHARE:  So there were delays?

 22                    MR. MC PARTLAND:  Well I think we did

 23  have everything.  I would have to go back.  I think we

 24  had it by the end of July, so probably not, but it was

 25  available and like I said --
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 01                    MR. MULHARE:  So that's why I wanted

 02  to pick on that one a little bit.  I understand that I'm

 03  trying to understand whether Count 1 is similar to

 04  Count 2, in terms of the response.  But what you just

 05  said is, you feel like you've complied within that

 06  statutory time frame.

 07                    But then we heard before that, that

 08  perhaps it was October, that you had messaging with the

 09  other management company and sent additional

 10  information, or you would say you sent in information

 11  that you had already sent?  So was in the fall?

 12                    MR. MC PARTLAND:  The October was in

 13  response to the complaint because, before the complaint,

 14  we have delivered everything.

 15                    MR. MULHARE:  So your testimony is,

 16  during fall, you just recopied things that you had

 17  previously sent?  So you feel --

 18                    MR. MC PARTLAND:  We sent everything

 19  we sent before, because we were then told that it wasn't

 20  received.

 21                    MR. MULHARE:  So the bottom line is,

 22  you feel that your company complied with the statute and

 23  contract, in terms over the turning over the books and

 24  records of the Association.  Is there any ifs, ands or

 25  buts about that?

�0075

 01                    MR. MC PARTLAND:  I don't think so.

 02                    MR. BENNETT:  I don't have any other

 03  questions.  I wanted to give Mr. McPartland the

 04  opportunity to make a closing statement.  Ultimately, as

 05  Mr. Mulhare stated, we are trying to focus -- what the

 06  Board is concerned with is what is in the Revised Report

 07  of Findings.  And also, as the respondent, you do have

 08  the right to respond to anything that was said.  So I do

 09  want to give you that opportunity for the record.  But,

 10  as Mr. Mulhare stated, what the Common Interest

 11  Community Board is primarily concerned with are the

 12  allegations contained in the revised Report of Findings.

 13                    MR. MULHARE:  Can I ask a question

 14  before we turn it over?  Is that proper?  Can I ask one

 15  more question?

 16                    MR. BENNETT:  Sure.  Go ahead.

 17                    MR. MULHARE:  Just an estimate, over

 18  the last three years, how many contract terminations

 19  have you terminated with the association and provided

 20  the books and records of the association to either the

 21  Association or another management company?

 22                    MR. MC PARTLAND:  That we terminated,

 23  or just terminated in general?

 24                    MR. MULHARE:  Whatever.  Your firm had

 25  the responsibility of providing books and records of the
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 01  Association to either, back to the Association or to

 02  another management company.

 03                    MR. MC PARTLAND:  Five, maybe.

 04                    MR. MULHARE:  Over the last three

 05  years?

 06                    MR. MC PARTLAND:  Yes.

 07                    MR. MULHARE:  And have there been any

 08  regulatory issues with that?

 09                    MR. MC PARTLAND:  No, sir.

 10                    MR. MULHARE:  Any contract issues with

 11  that?

 12                    MR. MC PARTLAND:  No, sir.

 13                    MR. MULHARE:  Okay.  Go ahead.

 14                    MR. MC PARTLAND:  Really, I don't want

 15  to take up any more of you folks' time.  I think we have

 16  already covered it as fully as we can.

 17                    We feel we did what -- in spite of the

 18  challenges, we still did everything to comply.  And if

 19  someone doesn't come to pick it up, we made it

 20  available.

 21                    MR. BENNETT:  Okay.  At this point, I

 22  will explain the process moving forward.  Mr. Mulhare

 23  will take everything that he heard today into account,

 24  along with anything you submit to me by that July 24

 25  deadline.  And he will draft a summary of the
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 01  conference, which will include a recommendation.

 02                    The recommendation will be whether or

 03  not Mr. Mulhare believes that PMA violated the

 04  regulations cited in the Revised Report of Findings.

 05  And if he recommends a violation, he may also recommend

 06  a sanction.

 07                    Once the summary and recommendation

 08  are complete, we will send a copy to everyone

 09  participating in the IFF today, along with an invitation

 10  to the Board meeting of the Common Interest Community

 11  Board that the case was heard at.

 12                    At the board meeting, anyone who

 13  participated today will be able to address the full

 14  Board for up to five minutes, prior to the Board making

 15  their decision.  It's important to know you can't talk

 16  about any new information at that point; you can only

 17  talk about what was discussed today and what was argued

 18  in the record already in the record, and anything you

 19  admit by that July 24th deadline.

 20                    If you choose to attend, once you have

 21  addressed the Board for five minutes, the Board would

 22  then vote on whether or not to accept Mr. Mulhare's

 23  recommendation.

 24                    It is important to note that it is

 25  just a recommendation.  The Board has the power to
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 01  either accept, reject or modify.  As they see fit.  The

 02  Board will make a final decision that day.

 03                    Does anybody have any questions about

 04  the process moving forward?

 05                    MR. MC PARTLAND:  No.

 06                    MR. BENNETT:  Then I think at this

 07  point, we can conclude the conference.  Thank you very

 08  much.

 09                    MR. MC PARTLAND:  Thank you very much.

 10  I appreciate your time.

 11  

 12                    NOTE:  The hearing concluded at 3:20

 13  p.m.

 14  

 15  

 16  
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 20  
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 24  

 25  
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